
 
 
 

Highways Committee 
 
 
Date Monday 29 March 2021 

Time 9.30 am. 

Venue Remote Meeting - This meeting is being held 
remotely via Microsoft Teams 

 
Business 

 
Part A 

 
1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Substitute Members   

3. Minutes of the Meeting held on 14 December 2020  (Pages 3 - 
12) 

4. Declarations of Interest, if any   

5. Status of Public Footpath No. 56, Watergate Lane, Crook from 
Junction of A689 (Prospect Road) and the B6298 (New Road) to 
Rumby Hill Lane (C18a), Crook - Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981 - Definitive Map Modification Order Proposal  (Pages 13 - 
160) 

6. Such other business, as in the opinion of the Chairman of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration   

 
 
 

Helen Lynch 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 
County Hall 
Durham 
19 March 2021 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
To: The Members of the Highways Committee 

 
 Councillor C Kay (Chair) 

Councillor S Morrison (Vice-Chair) 
 

 Councillors D Bell, H Bennett, J Chaplow, J Considine, S Dunn, 
D Hicks, K Hopper, S Hugill, K Liddell, O Milburn, R Ormerod, 
J Rowlandson, P Sexton, J Shuttleworth, A Simpson, 
K Thompson, J Turnbull and M Wilson 

 
 
 

Contact:  Michael Turnbull Tel: 03000 269 714 

 



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 
At a Meeting of Highways Committee held remotely via Microsoft Teams on 
Monday, 14 December 2020 at 9.30 am 
 
 
Present: 
 

Councillor C Kay (Chair) 

 

Members of the Committee: 

Councillors D Bell, J Chaplow, S Dunn, K Hopper, S Hugill, K Liddell, S Morrison 
(Vice-Chair), R Ormerod, J Rowlandson, J Shuttleworth, K Thompson, J Turnbull 
and M Wilson 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors H Bennett, G Bleasdale, 
J Considine, D Hicks, O Milburn, P Sexton and A Simpson. 
 
 

2 Substitute Members  
 
There were no substitute Members. 
 
 

3 Declarations of Interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 

4 Minutes 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 8 October 2020 were confirmed as a correct 
record and would be signed by the Chair. 
 
 

5 Chester-le-Street - Parking & Waiting Restrictions Order 2020  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration, 
Economy and Growth regarding proposals for five locations in the Chester-le-Street 
area to introduce parking and waiting restrictions, and electric car charging bays for 
one of the locations (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



The Head of Transport and Contract Services, Dave Wafer informed the Committee 
that several requests had been received from local residents and representatives of 
Durham County Council to address issues in Chester-le-Street as follows: 
 
Holmlands Park Estate  
The proposal for the Holmlands Park Estate: Holmlands Park, Eardulph Avenue, 
Lindom Avenue, Lindisfarne Avenue, Roman Avenue and St Cuthbert’s Avenue, 
was to introduce a controlled ‘Permit Holders Only’ Area within the streets to 
address obstructive parking and improve accessibility throughout the estate.  
 
There were 24 objections and 123 responses in favour of the proposals, all from 
local residents. 
 
Oakdale Terrace  
The proposal for Oakdale Terrace would see an amended timeframe for existing 
‘Permit Parking’ restrictions on Oakdale Terrace from ‘Mon-Sat, 1011am, 2-3pm’ to 
‘Mon-Sat, 11am-1pm, 4-6pm’ to improve accessibility for residents and address a 
change in parking patterns.  
 
There was one objection and one response in favour of the proposal.  
  
Hilda Park  
The proposal for Hilda Park was to introduce ‘no waiting at any time’ restrictions on 
the junction from Hilda Park onto Pelton Lane to improve accessibility and address 
obstructive parking.  
 
There were three objections to the proposals.   
 
Hilda Terrace 
The proposal for Hilda Terrace was to introduce ‘no waiting at any time’ restrictions 
on the junction from Hilda Terrace / Glenmore Avenue onto Pelton Lane to improve 
accessibility and address obstructive parking.  
 
There were no objections and one representation in favour.   
 
Burn Greens Car Park  
The proposals came via a request from Durham County Council Officers to 
introduce two ‘Electric Vehicle Recharging Bays’ within the Burn Greens Car Park 
to facilitate access for electric vehicles.  
 
There were no objections to the proposals. 
 
The Chair thanked the Head of Transport and Contract Services and noted a local 
resident, Ms Penny Williams, was in attendance to speak in support of the 
proposals for Holmlands Park. 
 

Page 4



Ms P Williams thanked the Chair and Committee and explained she was speaking 
on behalf of the Holmlands Park Residents Association and confirmed the 
Associations approval of the scheme.  She noted that over the past ten to twelve 
years, the issue of parking had been brought up at every residents’ meeting, adding 
that it was not surprising, given the long list of those that parked on the estate 
including: shoppers; shop workers; officer workers; train station users, both those 
that leave their cars all day and those that would leave their cars while going on 
holiday; teachers; lunch-time staff; extra-curricular staff; Sixth Form students; gym 
users; football classes; dog walkers; park goers; croquet players; bowlers; cricket 
supporters; park runners; church goers; walkers and joggers. 
 
Ms P Williams explained that on the basis of all of those that parked on the estate it 
was ‘choc-a-block’ from 7.00am until, frequently, 9.00pm.  It was added that any 
large event within the park could cause havoc, with vehicles dumped anywhere.  
She noted that one organiser, Stanley Events, in terms of their annual fireworks 
event within the Riverside Park area, gave complete consideration to the estate and 
the Residents’ Association were extremely grateful for that.  
 
Ms P Williams noted that if the Council had allowed 9.30am – 6.00pm permit 
parking for Chester-le-Street, as in Durham City, with time out for school 
collections, the residents would have found that to be perfect.  She added that the 
Residents’ Association were aware that there were residents that objected to the 
proposal, many feeling that there should be no charge involved and already having 
a garage alongside the footpath.  She noted that, however, a majority of 76 percent 
of properties were in favour, a huge number supporting the scheme, adding that the 
24 percent included a number of properties that did not vote. 
 
Ms P Williams reminded Members that the Holmlands Park Estate was surrounded 
by the Front Street, Park View School and the Riverside Park and added that while 
there was ample car parking provision, it was the cheaper option to use the housing 
estate as a free car park.  She explained that caused a host of problems for 
residents, including the blocking of driveways and garages.  She explained the 
issues in terms of funeral cars, with residents faced an additional burden when 
arranging a funeral in terms of arranging for Police cones, should the funeral 
cortege wish to leave from the deceased property.  Ms P Williams noted issues in 
terms of access for emergency vehicles and explained on three occasions elderly 
residents had to be wheeled up to 50 metres to ambulances as they were unable to 
gain access.  She noted she would hope fire appliances would simply bulldoze their 
way through if they were required.  She explained that Council Refuse staff often 
had to wheel rubbish bins to the end of the streets or return at another time to 
collect them.  The Committee were informed that the road sweeper was very rarely 
able to clean the gutters and the drain cleaner vehicle had to make multiple visits. 
 
Ms P Williams explained that Park View School’s main entrance was on Church 
Chare, not on the estate, and added that there was adequate parking on site, with 
over 65 spaces.   

Page 5



She noted that when there was an event, the school suggested parking within the 
housing estate, rather than on the school site or the nearer town centre parking 
facilities.  She added the school’s three minibuses often parked on the estate, 
usually on the ends of streets.  Ms P Williams noted that the Headteacher of Park 
View School had suggested permit parking as a solution and would actively support 
that, however, the Residents’ Association noted no cooperation from the school. 
 
Ms P Williams noted while residents wished for businesses to thrive, they did not 
feel it should be at the expense of the wellbeing of the estate and reiterated there 
was adequate car parks.  She noted yellow lines that were installed after multiple 
accidents, one involving an elderly resident that required them to be cut from their 
car.  She noted the line had been extended, however, that had been to no avail.  
She explained that the Residents’ Association was kindly asking the Committee to 
respect the wishes of 76 percent of properties on the estate and allow the estate to 
be just that, a housing estate and not a car park, making it safe for not only the 
many elderly residents, but all residents of the estate. 
 
The Chair thanked Ms P Williams and asked the Committee for their comments and 
questions. 
 
Councillor J Shuttleworth noted the majority of residents, 76 percent, supported the 
proposals and therefore he Moved the recommendation as detailed in the report.  
 
Councillor S Dunn Seconded the recommendation as detailed in the report. 
 
Resolved 
That the Committee endorse the proposals in principle to proceed with the 
implementation of the Chester-Le-Street: Parking and Waiting Restrictions Order. 
With the final decision to be made by the Corporate Director under delegated 
powers. 
 
 

6 Bishop Auckland - Parking & Waiting Restrictions Order 2020 
 
The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration, 
Economy and Growth regarding proposals relating to the introduction, amendment 
and removal of parking and waiting restrictions in seven locations at the Bishop 
Auckland (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
The Head of Transport and Contract Services informed the Committee that several 
requests had been received from local residents and representatives of Durham 
County Council to address issues at Bishop Auckland as follows: 
 

Councillor S Morrison entered the meeting at 10.00am 
 
 

Page 6



Woodhouse Lane 
The proposal for Woodhouse Lane was to make the current temporary traffic 
regulation order ‘no waiting at any time’ restrictions near the three education 
establishments permanent due to inappropriate parking to improve access, visibility 
and road safety in the location.  It was noted the proposals had been requested by 
local residents, parents of the school children and school staff with support from the 
local County Councillor. 
  
There was one objection received from a local resident.   
 
Bishop Auckland Train Station Car Park 
The proposal for Bishop Auckland Train Station Car Park was to introduce and 
amend restrictions to improve the parking availability within the station car park, 
including 20 ‘Long Stay Pay and Display’ bays, two ‘Blue badge holder only’ bays 
and 14 ‘Limited waiting’ bays.  It was added the proposals were to reduce long stay 
commuter parking due to sections of the car park being unrestricted.  The 
Committee noted the request came from the Train Station Manager and had been 
supported by the local County Councillor.  
 
There was one objection received from a member of staff of a nearby business 
 
Murphy Crescent  
The proposal for Murphy Crescent was to introduce ‘restricted waiting’ restrictions 
and a short extension to the ‘School Keep Clear’ restrictions to improve school gate 
parking, reduce congestion during school pick up/drop off times and improve 
access, visibility and road safety.   
 
There were three objections received from local residents.   
 
Acacia Road/ Oak Terrace/ Cedar Road/ Hawthorn Road  
The proposals for Acacia Road/ Oak Terrace/ Cedar Road/ Hawthorn Road were to 
introduce ‘no waiting at any time’ restrictions due to inappropriate parking to 
improve access, visibility and road safety in this location. 
 
There were no objections to the proposals. 
 
George Street  
The proposals for George Street were to remove a section of a ‘no waiting at any 
time’ restriction and to introduce a ‘Loading Only’ restriction to assist and improve 
local businesses loading/unloading facility.  It was noted that the request had been 
from local business owners.  
 
There were no objections to the proposals. 
 
 
 

Page 7



Kingsway 
The proposals for Kingsway were to introduce ‘no waiting and no loading at any 
time’ restrictions (double yellow lines) due to inappropriate parking to improve 
access, visibility and road safety in this location, as requested by local residents.   
 
There were no objections to the proposals. 
 
Oaklea Terrace 
The proposals for Oaklea Terrace were to remove ‘no waiting at any time’ 
restriction on Oaklea Terrace to improve parking availability for residents and local 
businesses. 
  
There were no objections to the proposals. 
 
The Chair thanked the Head of Transport and Contract Services and asked the 
Committee for their comments and questions. 
 
Councillor J Shuttleworth Moved the recommendation as detailed in the report.  
 
Councillor K Hopper Seconded the recommendation as detailed in the report. 
 
Resolved 
That the Committee endorse the proposals in principle to proceed with the 
implementation of the Bishop Auckland: Parking and Waiting Restrictions Order.  
With the final decision to be made by the Corporate Director under delegated 
powers. 
 
 

7 Durham City South East Parking & Waiting Restrictions Order 2020 
 
The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration, 
Economy and Growth regarding proposals relating to changes to parking bays and 
changes to ‘No Waiting At Any Time’ restrictions within Durham City - South East 
(for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
The Head of Transport and Contract Services informed the Committee that the 
proposals to address issues were as follows: 
 
New Elvet   
The proposal for New Elvet were to reconfigure the existing layby to accommodate 
parallel parking, vehicles currently parking at an angle of approximately 45 degrees 
to the kerb (echelon parking) and were therefore required to reverse out into 
oncoming traffic.  It was noted that longer vehicles would protrude into the running 
lane causing a danger particularly to through traffic and cyclists.  The Committee 
noted the proposal replaced two blue badge holder bays with a loading only bay to 
accommodate the requirements of adjacent commercial premises.   

Page 8



Members were informed that the existing blue badge bays were not in an ideal 
position as they required the occupants to alight onto the carriageway, on a 
gradient, and then traverse around the rear of the vehicle, in the live carriageway, 
to access the dropped kerb onto the footway.  There are alternative, more suitable, 
blue badge holder bays close to this location and blue badge holders may also park 
for an unlimited length of time, without charge, in any of the nearby pay and display 
bays. 
  
One objection to the proposal was received from a local business owner. 
 
Whinney Hill 
The proposal for Whinney Hill was to replace a section of ‘No Waiting At Any Time’ 
and introduce Permit Holders or Pay and Display parking, as requested by 
residents in order to improve parking availability in this area of the City.  
  
There were no objections to the proposals. 
 
Hallgarth View   
The proposal for Hallgarth View was to replace a section of Permit Holder Only 
parking and introduce a ‘No Waiting At Any Time’ restriction to address access and 
safety issues due to obstructive parking from commuter and student vehicles.  The 
request was from local residents with support of the County Councillor. 
 
There were no objections to the proposals. 
 
The Chair thanked the Head of Transport and Contract Services and asked the 
Committee for their comments and questions, noting Councillor R Ormerod was a 
local Member. 
 
Councillor R Ormerod noted he would speak as a Committee Member and that he 
was in favour of the proposals, as reversing out of the parking bays at New Elvet 
was terrifying and the new arrangements would be much safer.  He added with the 
main road bridge closed for repairs there was a good opportunity to carry out such 
works, though noted it appeared works had begun already.  He noted the other 
proposals were welcomed and would help prevent people parking in an anti-social 
manner and thanked the Officers involved for their professional work on the 
schemes. 
 
Councillor R Ormerod Moved the recommendation as detailed in the report.  
 
Councillor J Shuttleworth Seconded the recommendation as detailed in the report. 
 
Councillor S Dunn added that he agreed with the comments as regards the 
improvement in terms of safety relating to the parking at New Elvet, noting it was 
also on a bus route and suggested that while lines be added to clearly delineate 
spaces, similar to a scheme in his Division, to maximise the use of space.  

Page 9



 
Resolved 
That the Committee endorse the proposals in principle to proceed with the 
implementation of the Durham City South East Parking and Waiting Restrictions 
Order.  With the final decision to be made by the Corporate Director under 
delegated powers. 
 
 

8 Unc. Glenhurst Road & Oak Road, Easington Colliery - Traffic 
 Calming Measures 
 
The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration, 
Economy and Growth regarding proposals relating to changes to traffic calming 
measures at Glenhurst Road and Oak Road, Easington Colliery (for copy see file of 
Minutes). 
 
The Head of Transport and Contract Services informed the Committee that the 
proposals to address issues of speeding, the Local County Councillor and residents 
having raised concerns regarding the speed of vehicles using both Glenhurst Road 
and Oak Road.  He added that there was concerns raised as both streets are 
residential in nature, and an accident may occur due to the number of children 
living and playing in the area.  Members noted that as a result of the concerns 
raised, the Traffic Assets Team proposed to introduce traffic calming measures on 
Oak Road and Glenhurst Road in order to maintain lower vehicle speeds. 
 
The Committee noted a statutory notice of the proposal was posted in a local 
newspaper and at appropriate points within the affected streets between 29th 
August 2019 and 19th September 2019 and in addition, all statutory consultees 
including the Chief Officers of the Police, Fire Brigade and Ambulance Services 
were consulted as well as Local County Councillors, Councillor A Surtees and 
Councillor D Boyes. 
 
It was explained one formal objection from a local resident of Oak Road was 
received during the notice period.  The resident noted objections on the basis that 
there were not many children in the street and that speed humps can cause 
damage to cars.   
 
The Head of Transport and Contract Services noted that the design of such traffic 
calming measures would provide benefits for residents in terms of speed reduction, 
and if motorists slowed to an appropriate speed, they would not cause damage to 
their vehicles.   
 
Councillor J Shuttleworth Moved the recommendation as detailed in the report.  
 
Councillor J Turnbull Seconded the recommendation as detailed in the report. 
 

Page 10



 
Resolved 
That the Committee endorse the proposal in principle to proceed with the 
implementation of the traffic calming measures as detailed in Appendix 2 
(Glenhurst Road Traffic Calming) and Appendix 3 (Oak Road Traffic Calming) to 
the Committee Report.  With the final decision to be made by the Corporate 
Director under delegated powers. 
 
 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Highways Committee 

29 March 2021 

Status of Public Footpath No. 56, 

Watergate Lane, Crook from Junction of 

A689 (Prospect Road) and the B6298 

(New Road) to Rumby Hill Lane (C18a), 

Crook.  

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 

Definitive Map Modification Order 

Proposal 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team: Amy Harhoff, Corporate 
Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth and Helen Lynch, 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services. 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Crook 

Purpose of the Report 

1 In this report the Highways Committee is asked to consider all the 
relevant evidence gathered in support of an application to modify the 
Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way by upgrading 
public footpath No. 56, which runs from the junction of the A689 
(Prospect Road) and the B6298 (New Road) to Rumby Hill Lane 
(C18a), Crook, to public bridleway (Document A). 

 

Executive summary 

2 Footpath No. 56, currently shown on the Definitive Map, runs for 
approximately 750m from the junction the A689 (Prospect Road) and 
the B6298 (New Road), Crook in a South Easterly direction towards 
Rumby Hill Lane (C18a), Crook (Document B).  

3 This application seeks to create a continuous through route with public 
bridleway status from the A689 (Prospect Road) and the B6298 (New 
Road) to Rumby Hill Lane (C18a) by upgrading c.750m of public 
footpath 56 to public bridleway and that it be reflected by amending the 
Definitive Map and Statement.   

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



4 A consultation on the proposed upgrade was carried out (Document C) 
resulting in objections and support to the proposed amendment to 
modify the Definitive Map and Statement. Objections were received 
from Mr A Jackson (George.F.White) on behalf of their client Mr F 
Wilson (Document D), and support has been expressed by The British 
Horse Society and Ramblers Association (Document E) to the 
proposed upgrade.  

5 A summary of the objections lodged by George F White LLP on behalf 
of their client Mr F Wilson, circulate around;  whether  any  new 
evidence  has  been  discovered,  the  quality  of  evidence 
accompanying the application, the accuracy, or lack thereof, of the 
details depicted on the historical maps, the legitimacy and apparent 
connection of certain documents and wording in connection to the 
claimed route, the location of the route in question being incorrectly 
identified by the applicant, and, that other documents merely indicate 
that way existed, not that it was a public right of way. Document D.a 
provides counter statements by Durham County Council.  

6 Further representations were received by George F White on 11 March 
2021 and Document D and D.a provides both a copy of these further 
representations along with the Council’s response to these further 
points, by way of rebuttal.  

Recommendation(s) 

7 It is recommended that the Committee resolves to make a Definitive 
Map Modification Order to amend the Definitive Map and Statement to 
upgrade c.750m of footpath No. 56 to public bridleway under section 
53(3)(c) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

8 Note that the Definitive Map Modification Order will be referred to the 
Secretary of State for determination in the event objections are made. 

  

Page 14



Background 

Application 

9 An application was submitted by Mrs B Herd, on behalf of the British 
Horse Society, in December 2018 based on historical documentary 
evidence, the most important evidence being an Inclosure Award and 
Plan dated 1761. The applicant wishes the Definitive Map and 
Statement be modified, to reflect what they believe is the true legal 
status, by way of upgrading c.750m of public footpath No. 56 to public 
bridleway to link the A689 (Prospect Road) and B6298 (New Road) with 
Rumby Hill Lane (C18a).  

10 The proposed section of footpath to be upgraded to a public bridleway 
is referenced A-E and is shown in (Document B).  

 

Consultation and Objections 

11 Consultations on the proposed upgrade were carried out with the Local 
Councillors, landowners/occupiers and user groups/organisations 
(Document C).  Objections were received from Mr A Jackson 
(George.F.White), on behalf of their client Mr F Wilson (one of the 
landowners affected), (Document D) and support has been expressed 
by The British Horse Society and Ramblers Association (Document E) 
to the proposed upgrade. 

12 A summary of the objections lodged by George F White LLP on behalf 
of their client Mr F Wilson, circulate around;  whether  any  new 
evidence  has  been  discovered,  the  quality  of  evidence 
accompanying the application, the accuracy, or lack thereof, of the 
details depicted on the historical maps, the legitimacy and apparent 
connection of certain documents and wording in connection to the 
claimed route, the location of the route in question being incorrectly 
identified by the applicant, and, that other documents merely indicate 
that way existed, not that it was a public right of way..  

13 The only considerations that the Council can take into account are 
those that relate to whether the alleged public right, currently a 
footpath ought to be shown as a bridleway as per section 
53(3)(C)(ii) shows that a highway shown in the map and statement 
as a particular description ought to be there shown as a highway 
of a different description.  It would be unlawful to consider issues 
such as the suitability or desirability of the routes subject of the 
application. 

 

Page 15



The Route 

14 The route to be upgraded starts at the intersection of the A689 
(Prospect Road) and the B6298 (New Road) and continues in a South-
Easterly direction for approximately 750m following existing public 
footpath No. 56 where it joins Rumby Hill Lane (C18a).  

15 Historically Watergate Lane would have provided access to the Town of 
Crook, Woodifield and Thistle Flat Collieries and common land or “said 
Commons” as described in the Enclosure Award as Mawn Meadows. 
Additionally, between 1761 and 1856 The Hare & Hounds Inn (Public 
House) was established on the corner of Watergate Lane where it 
intersects with Rumby Hill Lane.  

16 There are four sections to the route. The first c.117m of the route, 
marked A-B on the plan (Document B), is c.7.5m (24ft) in width, has a 
solid metalled hardcore surface and is flanked to the North and South 
side by hedgerows and a brick wall which terminates just short of the 
historic North Bedburn - Hunwick Parish Boundary which was at the 
time called Bitchburn Beck, now Beechburn Beck, (Point B on the plan). 
Without carrying out an archaeology site study it is difficult to determine 
where the ford once was. There are some visible indications which 
suggest evidence of a ford but without further investigation no concrete 
conclusions can be drawn regarding its historical value.   

17 The second section, marked B-C on the plan, continues in a South-
Easterly direction from the historic North Bedburn - Hunwick Parish 
Boundary into the township of Hunwick Edge. It is approximately 315m 
in length, c.6-7m (20 - 23ft) in width and passes through open 
grassland. There is some evidence of a once metalled surface and the 
route is marked by an, albeit sporadic and stunted, mature tree line with 
the addition of an old benchmarked stone post gateway.  

18 Section 3, marked C-D on the plan, is a visibly sunken track, c.238m in 
length, c.12m (40ft) in width, with some evidence of a once metalled 
surface and is flanked by banks and a mature tree line to the North and 
South. This section of the route is described and shown as being a fully 
enclosed road in and on the enclosure award and plan.  

19 The final section, marked D-E on the plan, continues as an enclosed 
section of road that joins Rumby Hill Lane (C18a) at point E. It is c.83m 
in length, c.12m (40ft) wide with solid footing and is flanked to the North 
and South by a mature tree line, hedgerows and fencing. Also 
described and shown as being a fully enclosed road in and on the 
enclosure award and plan. 

20 The approximate widths measured on site were done so using 
acknowledged geographical and archaeological features that are 

Page 16



associated with the reading of historic landscapes. However, various 
obstacles such as fencing separating land unaffected by the existing 
right of way, but includes sections of the original enclosure boundaries, 
and, the growth of mature treelines prevented accurate measurements 
being taken on site. Therefore, some measurements were taken using 
the landline layer in ArcMap software that is utilised by Durham County 
Council for mapping boundaries, highways, public rights of ways, urban 
areas and various other features. 

 

Documentary Evidence 

21 Document F – 1761 Hunwick Edge Inclosure Award 
                         DUL DHC6 II/10 & CCB MP/510  
 
The earliest and most important legal documentary evidence which 
describes and depicts the application route is the 1761 Hunwick Edge 
Inclosure Award and Plan.  

An Inclosure Award is a statutory allotment of land which typically 
creates and/or records highways. 

The award describes Watergate Lane as a ‘Private Carriage Way’ and 
states “use for all the proprietors of the several allotments hereinafter 
mentioned and for such other person or persons as had ancient right to 
come down Mawn Meadows Lane thro’ the said Watergate lane into 
said commons”, commons being a place of public resort. It also states 
under the general uses section that it is for the use of “all person owners 
and occupiers”. Other highways also designated as ‘Private Carriage 
Ways’ in the Enclosure Award have since become public highways, 
such as Delft Well Lane, now Quarry Burn Lane and Rough Leigh Lane, 
now Rough Lea Lane. 

22 Document F.a – Supplementary Evidence – Hunwick Edge 
Inclosure Award                 DUL DHC6 II/10 & CCB MP/510 
 
This supplementary evidence found on page 190 of the Hunwick Edge 
Inclosure Awards sets out the provision of a public bridleway along 
Watergate Lane. “We do hereby direct and appoint that there shall be 
another Publick Bridleway and for sack and seam from Romby Hill 
westward to Watergate”. The definition of Sack and seam as per DUL 
notes by catalogue entry means cart horse use. 
 
 
 
 

Page 17



23 Document G – 1761 Hunwick Inclosure Plan 1761 
                         (DUL) DHC M1 
 
On the plan Watergate Lane is clearly depicted as heading in a South 
Westerly direction from the junction of Rumby Hill Lane, crossing what 
is labelled as Bitchburn, now Beechburn Beck, on the plan and 
continuing in the same direction the other side. However, orientated 
correctly in line with the North arrow on the plan, Watergate Lane heads 
in a North Westerly - South Easterly direction as it does on current 
maps. This depiction of the Watergate Lane on the Inclosure Plan 
correlates to the description laid out in the Inclosure Award.  

 

24 Document H – 1836 Stockton and Darlington Railway Plan  
                         DRO Q/D/P 76 
 

A section of Watergate Lane is shown on the plan but it is not labelled 
as Watergate Lane. It is instead labelled as a Bridle Road to Rumby Hill 
Lane on the cross-section plan. However, given the scale at which the 
plan was produced the feature itself is hard to deduce. It heads North-
West to South- East and is shown crossing over Beechburn Beck. A 
cross section plan (Document I) was produced to accompany the Aerial 
plan which allows features to be identified. 

Railway plans and books of reference were well researched. Railway 
companies were required to provide information on all landowners and 
public highways within a prescribed distance of the proposed railway 
and to place this information in the public domain for inspection. This 
allowed for any objections to be submitted and resolved before 
parliament would grant the necessary powers of approval. Although 
railway plans do not provide conclusive evidence of the legal rights 
allocated to a way, they do provide compelling evidence that, on the 
balance of probability, the way in question did at some point in time 
acquire public bridleway rights.  

25 Document H.a – 1836 Stockton and Darlington Railway Plan - 
Aerial plan and accompanying Cross Section. DRO Q/D/P 76 

 
The same section of Watergate Lane can also be identified on the 
cross-section plan, although it is not called Watergate Lane, instead the 
route is labelled as a Bridle Road to Rumby Hill Lane. When placing the 
aerial plan and cross-section plan together identifiable features can be 
aligned. 

 
 

Page 18



26 Document I – 1846 North Bedburn Tithe Map 
        (DUL) DDR/EA/TTH/1/11  

 
This was a survey and plan undertaken pursuant to an Act of 
Parliament for the purposes of recording land holdings liable to taxation 
(tithes).  
 

 When cross-referencing features (houses, waterways etc) detailed on 
the Tithe Map with the those extant on current maps, Watergate Lane is 
clearly depicted. Bitchburn Beck, as it is labelled on the Newton Cap 
Tithe map, was the historic parish boundary between North Bedburn 
and Newton Cap. Therefore, Watergate Lane can be seen as stopping 
once it reaches the beck, however, on consulting the 1848 Newton Cap 
Tithe Map (Document I.a) a clear continuation of Watergate Lane to 
Rumby Hill Lane can be seen.  

Watergate Lane is located top and centre of the plan and is heading 
from West to East towards Bitchburn Beck.  

The route under investigation has not been allocated a tithe 

apportionment number, however, neither have any of the other roads 

shown on either tithe plan that have since become public highways. 

Some parishes attributed apportionment numbers to all parcels of land 

and some only allocated apportionment numbers if the land was 

classed as grazing. Additionally, land that was considered barren, 

belonging to the church, crown estates or that may have already been 

considered a public highway at the time were generally not allocated 

apportionment numbers. 

27 Document I.a - 1848 Newton Cap Tithe Map 
                          (DUL) DDR/EA/TTH/1/11  

 
Watergate Lane can be seen leaving Rumby Hill Lane heading East to 
West and again stopping at Bitchburn Beck, the historic parish 
boundary. On stitching the two Tithe Maps together it can be seen that 
Watergate Lane was a through route.  

The route under investigation has not been allocated a tithe 
apportionment number, however, neither have any of the other roads 
shown on either tithe plan that have since become public highways. 
Some parishes attributed apportionment numbers to all parcels of land 
and some only allocated apportionment numbers if the land was 
classed as grazing. Additionally, land that was considered barren, 
belonging to the church, crown estates or that may have already been 
considered a public highway at the time were generally not allocated 
apportionment numbers.  

Page 19



28 Document I.b – 1846 North Bedburn Tithe Map with 1848 Newton 
Gap Tithe Map. (DUL) DDR/EA/TTH/1/11 

When the two maps are stitched together the section of Watergate Lane 
proposed for upgrade can be seen in its entirety.  

29 Document J – 1840 Hobson Map  
                        Ref. http://valentine.dur.ac.uk/pip/searchform1.asp 
 
Again, the application route can be seen heading North West from 
Rumby (Romby) Hill Lane towards and over Beechburn Beck in the 
direction of Mawn (Mown) Meadows as described in the Inclosure 
Award. Although the entire route from Rumby Hill Lane to Mown 
Meadows via Watergate Lane and Mown Meadows Lane, as described 
in the Inclosure Award, is not depicted the section that is Watergate 
Lane and being proposed for upgrade is.  

30 Hobson maps were created using Walkers' lithographic plates. They 
added features that were relevant for fox-hunting at that time and 
outlined each hunt territory as well as places of meets. Walkers' maps 
were produced in association with the society for the diffusion of useful 
knowledge, a society aimed at supplying high quality yet inexpensive 
education materials for the working and middle classes. John and 
Charles Walker were highly renowned 19th century cartographers and 
engravers, who by 1837 had produced the ‘British Atlas’ which 
contained maps of forty-seven English Counties. Each map was 
considered to be finely engraved and detailed.  

 
31 Document K – 1850 Greenwoods Map 

                          Ref. http://valentine.dur.ac.uk/pip/searchform1.asp 
 

The route is shown as an enclosed road heading in a North-Westerly 
direction from Rumby (Romby) Hill Lane, crossing Beechburn Beck, 
what is now the A689 and B6298 and the railway. It continues heading 
in a North-Westerly direction towards Mown Meadows, as described in 
the Inclosure Award. The section of road leading to Mawn Meadows is 
named Mawn Meadows Lane. Watergate Lane is not show as cul-de-
sac but rather an open-ended road. It is likely that at this point the fully 
enclosed section of road ended and continued as a partially enclosed 
road or track, that still carried the same public rights, and/or the 
apparent lack of an Inclosure Award or Plan covering the most Northerly 
section of Watergate Lane prevented Greenwood from depicting it. 
However, the section of route being proposed for upgrade is show in its 
entirety. The gap that appears in the enclosed section of Watergate 
Lane is a map seam.  

Page 20

http://valentine.dur.ac.uk/pip/searchform1.asp
http://valentine.dur.ac.uk/pip/searchform1.asp


Greenwood maps are county surveys undertaken by John Greenwood 
between 1817 and 1820 for the purpose of compiling a County Atlas 
and the roads marked were considered major byways. This map was 
made for sale to the public, and so is unlikely to show routes that the 
public could not use. It has a key in which different types of road are 
distinguished. It does not set out to show bridleways or footpaths but 
this does not mean that the routes shown did not carry public bridleway 
rights. The route is shown in the manner of a “Cross Road”. Greenwood 
seems to have meant this to mean any road not specifically a turnpike 
road.  

Additionally, The Planning Inspectorate Definitive Map Orders: 
Consistency Guidelines (2.27) states  

“In Hollins v Oldham the Judge analysed the two categorisations and 
concluded that a “cross road” must mean a public road for which no toll 
was payable, stating “This latter category, it seems to me, must mean a 
public road in respect of which no toll is payable. This map was 
probably produced for the benefit of wealthy people who wished to 
travel either on horseback or by horse and carriage. The cost of such 
plans when they were produced would have been so expensive that no 
other kind of purchaser could be envisaged. There is no point, it seems 
to me, in showing a road to such a purchaser which he did not have the 
right to use.”        

The application route is shown on Greenwood’s map in the same 
manner as roads which are now recorded as major or minor highways. 
Based on Greenwoods enquiries and his depiction of the application 
route it suggests that route in question had vehicular (cart/carriage use) 
rights in 1850. Therefore, it can be considered as evidence in favour of 
the proposed upgrade of Watergate Lane to public bridleway, as should 
the route in question have been consider a public carriage way at the 
time it would have also had the lesser public rights of a public bridleway. 

32 Document L and L.a - 1858 -1895 1st Edition OS (Ordnance Survey) 
1:6” & Book of Reference. (www.old-maps.co.uk) Sheet XXXIII.5 & 8 
 

The entirety of Watergate Lane is clearly shown heading from Rumby 
Hill Lane in a North-Westerly direction towards Beechburn Beck, the 
railway and Mown Meadows before emerging at the junction of the 
A689 (Prospect Road) and the B6298 (New Road).  

From Rumby Hill Lane to Beechburn Beck: Plot 361 – Watergate Lane. 
Plot 356 – Arable, cart road and trees. Plot 357 – Arable, cart road, air 
shaft, and trees.  

Page 21



Beechburn Beck to the Railway: Plot – 246 – Road, houses, well, cart 
road, streams and waste.  

Railway to Mown Meadows – Plot 230 – Arable, stream and cart road. 
Plot 539 – Wood, cart road and stream. Plot 537 – Arable, wood, 
stream, cart road and trees. Plot 536 – Pasture and cart road. 

OS maps were produced pursuant to an Act of Parliament as an official 
survey of England and Wales. Originally produced under the Board of 
Ordnance to aid with military manoeuvres in preparation for rebellions 
or war in the late 1700s. By the mid to late 1800s OS maps had evolved 
considerably and, due to the expense of surveys and the production of 
revised editions, the now Ordnance Survey had to diversify. This meant 
producing maps that could be sold to the public as the revenue would 
help fund revisions. It is suggested that historic documents, maps, plans 
and interviews with locals were used to identify, clarify and depict, 
through use of shading, different classifications of highways. However, 
there are no references that conclusively clarify the methods utilised by 
the surveyors to determine the status of a highway.  

33 Document M – 1852 Bells Coal Map  
http://iiif.durham.ac.uk/index.html?manifest=https://iiif.durham.ac.uk/ma
nifests/other/pip/pip-96.json 

Watergate Lane is clearly depicted as a significant route, again leaving 
Rumby Hill Lane heading in a North Westerly direction, crossing 
Beechburn Beck, and continuing towards Low Bitchburn and Whitfield 
Colliery.  

The Great Northern Coalfields is the name given to the Northumberland 
Coalfield and the contiguous Durham Coalfield to its south. Each map 
was considered to be richly detailed at that time and provides 
information on cities, towns, villages, roads, rivers, railways, 
gentlemen's estates, houses, pits, and collieries. Maps produced by 
J.T.W. Bell recorded land ownership and drew upon other earlier 
historic maps such as Inclosure Plans, Tithe Plans and Estate Plans 
which enabled wayleaves for wagonways to be created.  

34 Document N – 1865 Weardale and Shildon District Waterworks       
Aqueducts Plan and Book of reference. DRO/Q/D/P 287 

Again, this shows a section of the application route, heading in a South 
Easterly direction from the railway and Thistle Flat towards Beechburn 
Beck, the historic parish boundary, and has been classified in the book 
of reference as plot 106 - bridleway.  

From 1703 Parliamentary Standing Orders required water companies to 
provide information that highlighted and depicted landowners and land, 

Page 22

http://iiif.durham.ac.uk/index.html?manifest=https://iiif.durham.ac.uk/manifests/other/pip/pip-96.json
http://iiif.durham.ac.uk/index.html?manifest=https://iiif.durham.ac.uk/manifests/other/pip/pip-96.json


within a certain distance of the proposed works, that would be affected. 
This information had to be placed in the public domain for inspection 
which allowed for objections to be submitted and resolved before 
parliament would grant the necessary powers of approval. Although 
waterworks plans do not provide conclusive evidence of the legal rights 
allocated to a way, they do provide convincing evidence that, on the 
balance of probability, the way in question did at some point in time 
acquire public bridleway rights. 

35 Document O – 1891 Highways Diversion Plan (A689)  
                          DRO Q/R/HD 121 
 

Watergate Lane is again shown heading in a South-Easterly direction 
from Thistle Flat, crossing the new A684 (Prospect Road and the B6298 
(New Road) and continuing towards Beechburn Beck.  

36 In 1773 it was enacted that highway diversions could be authorised if it 
was found that the proposed diversion was shorter or more convenient 
and if the landowner agreed. The plans submitted were generally large 
scale, varied in scope and could be used to show development and 
infrastructure, land usage and ownership as well as the locations of   
sites which required public access. However, just because a route is 
shown on the plan it does not necessarily follow that all the highways or 
routes shown were public and without a reference book detailing the 
status of other routes in the vicinity of the proposed diversion area the 
plan alone can only be considered as corroboratory when considered 
with all other evidence.  

37 Document P – 1897 2nd Edition OS Map 1:2,500  
                        www.oldmaps.co.uk  sheet XXXIV.5 
 

As above only Watergate Lane can be seen to continue from 
Beechburn Beck in a South-Easterly direction and emerging on Rumby 
Hill Lane. It is also joined by two other routes, labelled as footpaths, 
which are narrower compared to the route under investigation.  

OS maps were produced pursuant to an Act of Parliament as an official 
survey of England and Wales. Originally produced under the Board of 
Ordnance to aid with military manoeuvers in preparation for rebellions 
or war in the late 1700s. By the mid to late 1800s OS maps had evolved 
considerably and, due to the expense of surveys and the production of 
revised editions, the now Ordnance Survey had to diversify. This meant 
producing maps that could be sold to the general public as the revenue 
would help fund revisions. It is suggested that historic documents, 
maps, plans and interviews with locals were used in order to identify, 

Page 23

http://www.oldmaps.co.uk/


clarify and depict, through use of shading, different classifications of 
highways. However, there are no references that conclusively clarify the 
methods utilised by the surveyors to determine the status of a highway. 

38 Document Q – 1898 OS 2nd Edition 1-inch outline. 
                         Ref. www.visionofbritian.org  
 

Watergate Lane is shown crossing the railway heading in a South-
Easterly direction, crossing what is now the B6298 (New Road) and 
Beechburn Beck as a fully enclosed and partially enclosed/fenced road 
and emerging on Rumby Hill Lane.   

OS maps were produced pursuant to an Act of Parliament as an official 
survey of England and Wales. Originally produced under the Board of 
Ordnance to aid with military manoeuvres in preparation for rebellions 
or war in the late 1700s. By the mid to late 1800s OS maps had evolved 
considerably and, due to the expense of surveys and the production of 
revised editions, the now Ordnance Survey had to diversify. This meant 
producing maps that could be sold to the public as the revenue would 
help fund revisions. It is suggested that historic documents, maps, plans 
and interviews with locals were used to identify, clarify and depict, 
through use of shading, different classifications of highways. However, 
there are no references that conclusively clarify the methods utilised by 
the surveyors to determine the status of a highway. 

 

39 Document R – 1910 Finance Act and Plan 
           TNA IR 135/3/100 
 

The route under enquiry appears as a White Road, enclosed at either 
end with a track connecting the two enclosed sections. Watergate Lane, 
circled in blue, can be seen leaving the junction of what is now the 
B6298 (New Road) and heading toward Beechburn Beck and the Ford. 
It continues in a South Easterly direction where it joins Rumby Hill Lane. 
The highway circled in red on the map is now part of the A684 (Prospect 
Road) and forms part of the continuation of Watergate Lane as it is 
described in the Inclosure Award. There is no deduction for the 
application route. However, an absence of deduction does not mean 
that it was not a public right of way, just that the owner did not claim it 
as such. Additionally, guidance set out in The Planning Inspectorate 
Definitive Map Orders: Consistency Guidelines (11.7) states  
 

“The 1910 Act required all land to be valued, but routes 
shown on the base plans which correspond to known 

Page 24

http://www.visionofbritian.org/


public highways, usually vehicular, are not normally shown 
as included in the hereditaments, i.e., they will be shown 
uncoloured and unnumbered. It is possible, but by no 
means certain, that this is related to s.35(1) of the Act: No 
duty under this part of the Act shall be charged in respect 
of any land or interest in land held by or on behalf of a 
rating authority. The practice would also be compatible 
with s.25(3) which states that the total value of land means 
the gross value after deducting the amount by which the 
gross value would be diminished if the land were sold 
subject to… any public rights of way. So, if a route in 
dispute is external to any numbered hereditament, there is 
a strong possibility that it was considered a public 
highway, normally but not necessarily vehicular, since 
footpaths and bridleways were usually dealt with by 
deductions recorded in the forms and Field Books; 
however, there may be other reasons to explain its 
exclusion”. 
 

40 Document S – 1921 OS 3rd Edition 1:2,500 
                          www.old-maps.co.uk 
 

Again, the application section of Watergate Lane, circled in blue, can be 
seen leaving the junction of what is now the B6298 (New Road) and 
heading toward Beechburn Beck and the Ford. It continues in a South 
Easterly direction where it joins Rumby Hill Lane. The highway circled in 
red on the map is now part of the A684 (Prospect Road) and forms part 
of the continuation of Watergate Lane as it is described in the Inclosure 
Award. 

OS maps were produced pursuant to an Act of Parliament as an official 
survey of England and Wales. Originally produced under the Board of 
Ordnance to aid with military manoeuvres in preparation for rebellions 
or war in the late 1700s. By the mid to late 1800s OS maps had evolved 
considerably and, due to the expense of surveys and the production of 
revised editions, the now Ordnance Survey had to diversify. This meant 
producing maps that could be sold to the public as the revenue would 
help fund revisions. It is suggested that historic documents, maps, plans 
and interviews with locals were used to identify, clarify and depict, 
through use of shading, different classifications of highways. However, 
there are no references that conclusively clarify the methods utilised by 
the surveyors to determine the status of a highway. 

 

 

Page 25

http://www.old-maps.co.uk/


41 Document T – 1924 OS 3rd Edition 1:10,500  
                         National Library of Scotland (Wolsingham) Sheet 
XXXIV. 
Watergate Lane is shown leaving Rumby Hill Lane heading in a North-
Westerly direction. The first section is as described and shown in and 
on the Inclosure award and plan, Greenwoods and Hobson Maps. It is 
shown as being an enclosed and partially enclosed road. The map 
shows the route crossing Beechburn Beck by way of Ford and 
Footbridge. 

 
OS maps were produced pursuant to an Act of Parliament as an official 
survey of England and Wales. Originally produced under the Board of 
Ordnance to aid with military manoeuvers in preparation for rebellions 
or war in the late 1700s. By the mid to late 1800s OS maps had evolved 
considerably and, due to the expense of surveys and the production of 
revised editions, Ordnance Survey had to diversify. This meant 
producing maps that could be sold to the public as the revenue helped 
fund revisions. It is suggested that historic documents, maps, plans and 
interviews with locals were used to identify, clarify and depict, through 
use of shading, different classifications of highways. However, there are 
no references that conclusively clarify the methods utilised by the 
surveyors to determine the status of a highway. 

 
 

42 Document U – 1947 OS Map 25 inch. 
                          National Library of Scotland sheet XXXVI.5 
 
As above only the map only notes a footbridge. 

43 Document V - 1947 New Popular Edition OS Map 1 inch 
                        National Library of Scotland 
As above. 

44 Document W – 1953 Series 1 OS Map 1:25,000 
                          National Library of Scotland 
As above. 

 
45 Document X – Current Definitive Map  

                         https://www.durham.gov.uk/definitivemap 

Watergate Lane, currently public footpath No. 56, leaves the junction of 
the A689 (Prospect Road) and the B6298 (New Road) heading in a 
South-Easterly direction and crossing Beechburn Beck and emerging 
on Rumby Hill Lane. Although this is not evidence of the historic legal 
status of the route in question it is evidence that public rights exist along 
it.  

 

Page 26

https://www.durham.gov.uk/definitivemap


46 Document Y & Y.a – Current OS Maps 
                                   www.ordnancesurvey.co.uk 
 

The current OS Maps show the current public right of way, footpath No. 
56, proposed for upgrade. Both documents show Watergate Lane 
leaving the junction of the A689 (Prospect Road) and the B6298 (New 
Road) and heading in a South-Easterly direction, crossing Beechburn 
Beck and emerging on Rumby Hill Lane.  

Document Z was first submitted as evidence by the applicant to 
highlight the current public right of way (purple line). Document Z.a is an 
amended version of Document Z re-submitted by the applicant and 
highlighting as accurately as possible the route proposed for upgrade. 
The re-submission of document Z.a was necessary to mitigate the 
confusion caused surrounding the location of the route being claimed.  

47 Document Z.a, Z.b & Z.c – Satellite View 
                                             www.googleearth.com 
 
The two satellite images show and highlight the topographical features 
associated with the different sections of the application route. 
Highlighted in Blue and starting from Rumby Hill Lane and heading in a 
North-Westerly direction, it clearly shows a mature treeline to the North 
and South of the route indicating the section of the route that was, and 
is still to this day, enclosed as described in the Inclosure Award. 
Highlighted in Yellow, the partially enclosed section of the route, leading 
to Beechburn Beck, can be identified by a raised bank and the sporadic 
and stunted mature trees. Highlighted in Purple, the final enclosed 
section of the application route, from Beechburn Beck to the junction of 
the A689 (Prospect Road) and the B6298 (New Road) is also evident by 
a treeline/hedge flanking it on either side to the North and South, 
however, on the ground the south side of the route is enclosed by a 
brick wall.     

 
48 Document A.1 – Photographic evidence 

The photographic evidence provides a visual representation of the 
archaeological and geographical features associated with the 
application route which supports the description given in the Inclosure 
Award for its use as a cart road. The key features being; the well-
established sunken track flanked by mature trees, the mature 
treeline/hedges indicating the enclosed and partially enclosed sections 
of the route, the ancient stone and benchmarked gate posts that 
allowed through access, and, the Ford. 

 

Page 27

http://www.ordnancesurvey.co.uk/
http://www.googleearth.com/


Assessment of the evidence 

The County Council, as Surveying Authority, must make a decision in 
accordance with the case law and relevant legislation, in particular the 
provisions of the 1981 Act and the Human Rights Act 1998.  The only 
considerations that the Council can take into account are those that 
relate to whether the alleged public right of way is of a particular 
description that ought to be there shown as a public right of way of a 
different description. It would be unlawful to consider issues such as the 
suitability or desirability of the routes subject of the application. 

In this case it is considered that the most important evidence is the 
Inclosure Award and Plan of 1761 (Documents F & G) and 
Greenwoods Map (Document K).  Whilst the Inclosure Award created a 
Private Carriageway, as this was for a defined class of users and not 
the public at large, it is considered that this was not a highway.  
However, the Inclosure Award also specifically created a public 
bridleway, with provision made for public use horse and cart. There is 
no inconsistency between the creation of a private carriage road on the 
one hand and a public bridleway on the other hand over the same route 
and such was common place in such awards. The Inclosure Award is 
therefore the legal document which created the Bridleway. Having 
regard to the notoriety, accuracy and Planning Inspectorate guidelines 
relating to Greenwoods Maps, it is also considered that this map is of 
further substantial evidence of the legal status of the route as a 

Bridleway.  

 

Whilst the other map-based evidence is corroboratory as to physical 
existence of the route, less weight must be afforded to these in 
accordance with Section 32 of the Highways Act as they were not 
produced for the purposes of showing the status of the route but for 
other purposes, such as taxation. 

The objector has not submitted any evidence of his own which would 

contradict the above Inclosure Award and map evidence.  Instead, he 

has focussed his arguments on the quality and precision of this 

evidence, thereby suggesting that it is insufficient and that the applicant 

has failed to discharge the burden of proof.  A detailed response to the 

objector’s points is set out in Document D.a. However, it is considered 

that none of the objector’s points are sufficient to undermine the 

evidential force of the Inclosure Award which is sufficiently clear and 

precise to demonstrate that a Bridleway was created along the route 

claimed. 
 

Page 28



Therefore, the present-day legal status of the route is considered to be 

incorrect and it is recommended that the route be a public bridleway. 

 

Legal Framework 

 

49 Under the provisions of Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981, the County Council as Surveying Authority has a duty to keep the 
Definitive Map and Statement under review and is required to make a 
Modification Order under Section 53 (3)(c)(ii) on the discovery by the 
authority of evidence which when considered with all other relevant 
evidence available to them shows that a highway shown in the map and 
statement as a particular description ought to be there shown as a 
highway of a different description . 

50 The evidence in this case is documentary evidence provided by the 
applicant Mrs B Herd, on behalf of the British Horse Society, and is 
based on advice contained in the book Rights of Way: restoring the 
Record by Sarah Bucks and Phil Wadey and the County Council’s 
guidance document Applying for a Definitive map Modification Order. 
 

51 Section 32 of the Highways Act 1980 deals with the consideration of 
documentary evidence when determining whether a highway has been 
dedicated. It allows for any maps, plans or history of a locality or other 
relevant document to be tendered in evidence and for appropriate 
weight to be placed on the document including the antiquity of the 
document, the status of the person by whom and the purpose for which 
it was created and the source from which it has been stored and 
produced. 
 

52 There is case law and guidance on the meaning of a ‘private’ carriage 
road. In particular, the case of Dunlop v Secretary of State for the 
Environment (1995) established that, in the context of the Inclosure Act 
1801, a ‘public’ carriage road was different to a ‘private’ carriage road, 
the distinction signifying differential rights of user, embracing all the 
monarch’s subjects in the former case and a limited if unspecified class 
in the latter.  The PINS ROW advice note 11 document advises that 
whether a private carriage road created by an Inclosure Award carries 
public vehicular rights will depend upon the specific context and all 
available evidence, having regard to the assistance of the Dunlop case 
on the interpretation of the 1801 Act. 
 

53 Once a highway comes into existence, it can only cease to be a 
highway in certain circumstances, such as by way of a formal stopping 

Page 29



up procedure.  The fact that the highway may have fallen into disrepair 
and/or disuse has no impact upon its status as highway. 

54 The Human Rights Act is of relevance. Whilst article 1 to the first 
protocol (peaceful enjoyment of property) and article 8 (right to respect 
for family, private life and home) are engaged, it is important to note that 
these rights are qualified, not absolute, which means that they can be 
interfered with in so far as such interference is in accordance with 
domestic law and is necessary in a democratic society for the protection 
of the rights and freedoms of others.  It is considered that any 
interference occasioned by the making of a Modification Order is both in 
accordance with domestic law (the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981) 
and is in the public interest as it is necessary in a democratic society for 
the protection of the rights and freedoms of others, namely the public 
who wish to use the way. 

 
55 Should Members resolve in principle that a Modification Order be made 

in accordance with the above legislation, this is merely the start of the 
legal process. Once a Modification Order is made, it must be publicised, 
and the owners will have an opportunity to formally object to it. Should 
objections be received, the Modification Order would have to be 
referred to the Secretary of State who would usually hold a Public 
Inquiry before deciding upon whether or not to confirm the Modification 
Order. 

 

Main implications 

Maintenance 

56 If this route is added to the Definitive Map as a Public Bridleway, the 
County Council as Highway Authority will become responsible for the 
maintenance of the surface, shared with those having private rights of 
access. 

Conclusion 

57 It is considered, after examining all of the available evidence, that on 
the balance of probability the route under investigation, from the 
intersection of the A689 (Prospect Road) and the B6298 (New Road) 
through to Rumby Hill Lane (C18a) following the line of public footpath 
No. 56, meets the test of section 53(C)(ii) and a Definitive Map 
Modification Order should therefore be made to update the Definitive 
Map and Statement to record it as a bridleway. 

Background papers 

 F:\Rights of Way\Modification Orders\A Crook - Watergate Lane 

Page 30

file:///F:/Rights%20of%20Way/Modification%20Orders/A%20Crook%20-%20Watergate%20Lane


Other useful documents 

 Previous Cabinet reports / None 

 

Author(s) 

Josephine Upchurch   Tel:  03000 365341 

Dagmar Richardson   Tel:  03000 365340 

Mike Ogden     Tel:  03000 265331 

Clare Cuskin    Tel:  03000 269723 

  

Page 31



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

See paragraphs 22, 23, 24, 25 and 28. 

Finance 

Durham County Council will be responsible for the initial installation of 

furniture associated with the upgraded legal status for the first six months and 

future maintenance of the surface to bridleway standards. 

Consultation 

See paragraphs 4 and 11 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

N/A 

Climate Change 

N/A 

Human Rights 

See paragraph 54 

Crime and Disorder 

N/A 

Staffing 

N/A 

Accommodation 

N/A 

Risk 

N/A 

Procurement 

N/A 

  

Page 32



Appendix 2:  Watergate Lane Summary Sheet 

 

 

 

Page 33



  

Page 34



Appendix 3:  Watergate Lane Application (as submitted by the 
applicant) 

 

Page 35



 

 

 

Page 36



 

 

 

Page 37



 

 

 

Page 38



Appendix 4:  Watergate Lane Evidence (as submitted by the 
applicant) 

 

Page 39



 

 

 

Page 40



 

 

 

Page 41



 

 

 

Page 42



 

 

 

Page 43



 

 

 

Page 44



 

 

 

Page 45



 

 

 

Page 46



 

 

 

Page 47



 

 

 

Page 48



 

 

 

Page 49



 

 

 

Page 50



 

 

 

Page 51



 

 

 

Page 52



 

 

 

Page 53



 

 

 

Page 54



 

 

 

Page 55



 

 

 

Page 56



 

 

 

Page 57



 

 

 

Page 58



 

 

 

Page 59



 

 

 

Page 60



 

 

 

Page 61



 

 

 

Page 62



 

 

 

Page 63



 

 

 

Page 64



 

 

 

Page 65



 

 

 

Page 66



 

 

 

Page 67



 

 

 

Page 68



 

 

 

Page 69



 

 

 

Page 70



 

 

 

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Legend

Row_work (line)

STATUS

Footpath

Bridleway

BOAT

Permissive

Railway Path

± ± Cyclepath - Road Lane

Ö Ö Cyclepath - segregated

Highways

Location of FP 56 proposed for upgrade – Watergate Lane, Crook. 

DOCUMENT A 

P
age 13



 

P
age 14



 

Legend

Row_work (line)

STATUS

Footpath

Landline

<all other values>

DescGroup

Building

General Feature

General Surface

Inland Water

Path

Road Or Track

Highways

Document B 

Route Plan 

P
age 15



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

I, Barbara Herd: on behalf of the British Horse 

Society 

Of: 

 

 

Hereby certify that the requirements of paragraph 2 of Schedule 14 to the Wildlife and Countryside Act 

1981 have been complied with. 

 

 

 

 

Dated       Signed  

 

 

 

 

Notices (copy attached), have been served on all owners/occupiers, list supplied below. 

 

 

  

  

  

  

 

Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



From:                                         Josephine Upchurch
Sent:                                           21 October 2019 11:26
To:                                               
Cc:                                               Dagmar Richardson
Subject:                                     Statutory Consultation Notice - Watergate Lane, Crook - 3/18/075 - (Our

reference REAL/ST/AROW/JU/3/18/075)
Attachments:                          Watergate Lane Map .pdf
 
Dear 
 
Statutory Consultation Notice - Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 - Proposed Amendment to the
Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way Alleged At Watergate Lane, Crook – 3/18/075
 
As you are aware an application for a Modification Order to upgrade the status of Footpath 56 to a
Bridleway has been submitted. There is sufficient historic evidence that would suggest the order would
likely be approved. Please see attached plan for location details.
 
I am currently seeking the views of the relevant land owners, councillors, and user groups (Ramblers’
Association and the British Horse Society etc.) We would appreciate any comments you may wish to offer
before the order report is submitted to the Highways Committee.  It would be appreciated if you could
send any reply within 30 days of the date of this email or inform me if you require more time to consider
the matter.
 
Please note that if you do make representations, then by virtue of the Local Government (Access to
Information) Act 1985, the County Council must make these publicly available when a report on this
application is considered by the Committee.
 
If you have any queries or wish to discuss the matter, please contact me.
 
 
Your sincerely
 
 
Josephine Upchurch
Definitive Map Officer
Public Rights of Way
County Hall
Durham
DH1 5UQ
03000 265341
 
www.durham.gov.uk/prow
 

Page 21



From:                                         Josephine Upchurch
Sent:                                           21 October 2019 11:24
To:                                             @hotmail.com; @tiscali.co.uk
Cc:                                               Dagmar Richardson
Subject:                                     Statutory Consultation Notice - Watergate Lane, Crook - 3/18/075 - (Our

reference REAL/ST/AROW/JU/3/18/075)
Attachments:                          Watergate Lane Map .pdf
 
Dear 
 
Statutory Consultation Notice – Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 - Proposed Amendment to the
Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way Alleged At Watergate Lane, Crook – 3/18/075
 
I have received evidence in support of the council making a Modification Order to the Definitive Map and
Statement under the provisions of Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. The evidence in
support of the Right of Way comes from historical documentary research that shows the route as having
had such rights since its conception.
 
Under the provisions of Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 the County Council has a duty
to keep the Definitive Map and Statement under continuous review and make appropriate modifications
by Order.
 
The Modification Order application is for the upgrade of an existing footpath (FP 56) to a Bridleway. Please
see the attached plan for location details.    
 
I am currently seeking the views of the relevant land owners, councillors, and other user organisations and
will be pleased to include any comments you may wish to offer regarding the proposed modification to
the Highways Committee.  It would be appreciated if you could send any reply within 30 days of the date
of this email or inform me if you require more time to consider the matter.
 
Please note that if you do make representations, then by virtue of the Local Government (Access to
Information) Act 1985, the County Council may make them available for public inspection. Additionally,
they may also be disclosable under the Freedom of Information Act 2000.
 
If you have any queries or wish to discuss the matter, please do not hesitate to contact me.
 
Yours sincerely
 
 
Josephine Upchurch
Definitive Map Officer
Public Rights of Way
County Hall
Durham
DH1 5UQ
03000 265341
 
www.durham.gov.uk/prow
 
 

Page 22



From:                                         Josephine Upchurch
Sent:                                           21 October 2019 11:25
To:                                              @bywaysandbridlewaystrust.org.uk
Cc:                                               Dagmar Richardson
Subject:                                     Statutory Consultation Notice - Watergate Lane, Crook - 3/18/075 - (Our

reference REAL/ST/AROW/JU/3/18/075)
Attachments:                          Watergate Lane Map .pdf
 
To Whom it may concern
 
Statutory Consultation Notice – Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 - Proposed Amendment to the
Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way Alleged At Watergate Lane, Crook – 3/18/075
 
I have received evidence in support of the council making a Modification Order to the Definitive Map and
Statement under the provisions of Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. The evidence in
support of the Right of Way comes from historical documentary research that shows the route as having
had such rights since its conception.
 
Under the provisions of Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 the County Council has a duty
to keep the Definitive Map and Statement under continuous review and make appropriate modifications
by Order.
 
The Modification Order application is for the upgrade of an existing footpath (FP 56) to a Bridleway. Please
see the attached plan for location details.    
 
I am currently seeking the views of the relevant land owners, councillors, and other user organisations and
will be pleased to include any comments you may wish to offer regarding the proposed modification to
the Highways Committee.  It would be appreciated if you could send any reply within 30 days of the date
of this email or inform me if you require more time to consider the matter.
 
Please note that if you do make representations, then by virtue of the Local Government (Access to
Information) Act 1985, the County Council may make them available for public inspection. Additionally,
they may also be disclosable under the Freedom of Information Act 2000.
 
If you have any queries or wish to discuss the matter, please do not hesitate to contact me.
 
Yours sincerely
 
 
 
Josephine Upchurch
Definitive Map Officer
Public Rights of Way
County Hall
Durham
DH1 5UQ
03000 265341
 
www.durham.gov.uk/prow
 

Page 23



From:                                         Josephine Upchurch
Sent:                                           21 October 2019 11:25
To:                                              @tiscali.co.uk
Cc:                                               Dagmar Richardson
Subject:                                     Statutory Consultation Notice - Watergate Lane, Crook - 3/18/075 - (Our

reference REAL/ST/AROW/JU/3/18/075)
Attachments:                          Watergate Lane Map .pdf
 
Dear 
 
Statutory Consultation Notice – Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 - Proposed Amendment to the
Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way Alleged At Watergate Lane, Crook – 3/18/075
 
I have received evidence in support of the council making a Modification Order to the Definitive Map and
Statement under the provisions of Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. The evidence in
support of the Right of Way comes from historical documentary research that shows the route as having
had such rights since its conception.
 
Under the provisions of Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 the County Council has a duty
to keep the Definitive Map and Statement under continuous review and make appropriate modifications
by Order.
 
The Modification Order application is for the upgrade of an existing footpath (FP 56) to a Bridleway. Please
see the attached plan for location details.    
 
I am currently seeking the views of the relevant land owners, councillors, and other user organisations and
will be pleased to include any comments you may wish to offer regarding the proposed modification to
the Highways Committee.  It would be appreciated if you could send any reply within 30 days of the date
of this email or inform me if you require more time to consider the matter.
 
Please note that if you do make representations, then by virtue of the Local Government (Access to
Information) Act 1985, the County Council may make them available for public inspection. Additionally,
they may also be disclosable under the Freedom of Information Act 2000.
 
If you have any queries or wish to discuss the matter, please do not hesitate to contact me.
 
Yours sincerely
 
 
Josephine Upchurch
Definitive Map Officer
Public Rights of Way
County Hall
Durham
DH1 5UQ
03000 265341
 
www.durham.gov.uk/prow
 

Page 24



From:                                         Josephine Upchurch
Sent:                                           21 October 2019 11:25
To:                                              sustrans.org.uk
Cc:                                               Dagmar Richardson
Subject:                                     Statutory Consultation Notice - Watergate Lane, Crook - 3/18/075 - (Our

reference REAL/ST/AROW/JU/3/18/075)
Attachments:                          Watergate Lane Map .pdf
 
To Whom it may concern
 
Statutory Consultation Notice – Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 - Proposed Amendment to the
Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way Alleged At Watergate Lane, Crook – 3/18/075
 
I have received evidence in support of the council making a Modification Order to the Definitive Map and
Statement under the provisions of Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. The evidence in
support of the Right of Way comes from historical documentary research that shows the route as having
had such rights since its conception.
 
Under the provisions of Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 the County Council has a duty
to keep the Definitive Map and Statement under continuous review and make appropriate modifications
by Order.
 
The Modification Order application is for the upgrade of an existing footpath (FP 56) to a Bridleway. Please
see the attached plan for location details.    
 
I am currently seeking the views of the relevant land owners, councillors, and other user organisations and
will be pleased to include any comments you may wish to offer regarding the proposed modification to
the Highways Committee.  It would be appreciated if you could send any reply within 30 days of the date
of this eamil or inform me if you require more time to consider the matter.
 
Please note that if you do make representations, then by virtue of the Local Government (Access to
Information) Act 1985, the County Council may make them available for public inspection. Additionally,
they may also be disclosable under the Freedom of Information Act 2000.
 
If you have any queries or wish to discuss the matter, please do not hesitate to contact me.
 
Yours sincerely
 
 
Josephine Upchurch
Definitive Map Officer
Public Rights of Way
County Hall
Durham
DH1 5UQ
03000 265341
 
www.durham.gov.uk/prow
 

Page 25



From:                                         Josephine Upchurch
Sent:                                           21 October 2019 11:25
To:                                             gmail.com
Cc:                                               Dagmar Richardson
Subject:                                     Statutory Consultation Notice - Watergate Lane, Crook - 3/18/075 - (Our

reference REAL/ST/AROW/JU/3/18/075)
Attachments:                          Watergate Lane Map .pdf
 
Dear 
 
Statutory Consultation Notice – Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 - Proposed Amendment to the
Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way Alleged At Watergate Lane, Crook – 3/18/075
 
I have received evidence in support of the council making a Modification Order to the Definitive Map and
Statement under the provisions of Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. The evidence in
support of the Right of Way comes from historical documentary research that shows the route as having
had such rights since its conception.
 
Under the provisions of Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 the County Council has a duty
to keep the Definitive Map and Statement under continuous review and make appropriate modifications
by Order.
 
The Modification Order application is for the upgrade of an existing footpath (FP 56) to a Bridleway. Please
see the attached plan for location details.    
 
I am currently seeking the views of the relevant land owners, councillors, and other user organisations and
will be pleased to include any comments you may wish to offer regarding the proposed modification to
the Highways Committee.  It would be appreciated if you could send any reply within 30 days of the date
of this email or inform me if you require more time to consider the matter.
 
Please note that if you do make representations, then by virtue of the Local Government (Access to
Information) Act 1985, the County Council may make them available for public inspection. Additionally,
they may also be disclosable under the Freedom of Information Act 2000.
 
If you have any queries or wish to discuss the matter, please do not hesitate to contact me.
 
Yours sincerely
 
 
 
Josephine Upchurch
Definitive Map Officer
Public Rights of Way
County Hall
Durham
DH1 5UQ
03000 265341
 
www.durham.gov.uk/prow
 

Page 26



From:                                         Josephine Upchurch
Sent:                                           21 October 2019 11:26
To:                                              @cwrams.co.uk
Cc:                                               Dagmar Richardson
Subject:                                     Statutory Consultation Notice - Watergate Lane, Crook - 3/18/075 - (Our

reference REAL/ST/AROW/JU/3/18/075)
Attachments:                          Watergate Lane Map .pdf
 
Dear 
 
Statutory Consultation Notice – Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 - Proposed Amendment to the
Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way Alleged At Watergate Lane, Crook – 3/18/075
 
I have received evidence in support of the council making a Modification Order to the Definitive Map and
Statement under the provisions of Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. The evidence in
support of the Right of Way comes from historical documentary research that shows the route as having
had such rights since its conception.
 
Under the provisions of Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 the County Council has a duty
to keep the Definitive Map and Statement under continuous review and make appropriate modifications
by Order.
 
The Modification Order application is for the upgrade of an existing footpath (FP 56) to a Bridleway. Please
see the attached plan for location details.    
 
I am currently seeking the views of the relevant land owners, councillors, and other user organisations and
will be pleased to include any comments you may wish to offer regarding the proposed modification to
the Highways Committee.  It would be appreciated if you could send any reply within 30 days of the date
of this email or inform me if you require more time to consider the matter.
 
Please note that if you do make representations, then by virtue of the Local Government (Access to
Information) Act 1985, the County Council may make them available for public inspection. Additionally,
they may also be disclosable under the Freedom of Information Act 2000.
 
If you have any queries or wish to discuss the matter, please do not hesitate to contact me.
 
Yours sincerely
 
 
Josephine Upchurch
Definitive Map Officer
Public Rights of Way
County Hall
Durham
DH1 5UQ
03000 265341
 
www.durham.gov.uk/prow
 

Page 27



From:                                         Josephine Upchurch
Sent:                                           21 October 2019 11:27
To:                                               Cllr 
Cc:                                               Dagmar Richardson
Subject:                                     Statutory Consultation Notice - Watergate Lane, Crook - 3/18/075 (Our reference

REAL/ST/AROW/JU/3/18/075
Attachments:                          Watergate Lane Map .pdf
 
Dear Cllr                                                                                      
 
Statutory Consultation Notice – Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 - Proposed Amendment to the
Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way Alleged At – Watergate Lane, Crook – 3/18/075
 
I have received evidence in support of the council making a Modification Order to the Definitive Map and
Statement under the provisions of Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. The evidence in
support of the Right of Way comes from historical documentary research that shows the route as having
had such rights since its conception.
 
Under the provisions of Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 the County Council has a duty
to keep the Definitive Map and Statement under continuous review and make appropriate modifications
by Order.
 
The Modification Order application is for the upgrade of an existing footpath (FP 56) to a Bridleway. Please
see the attached plan for location details. 
 
I am currently seeking the views of the relevant land owners and user organisations and will be pleased to
include any comments you may wish to offer regarding the proposed modification to the Highways
Committee.  It would be appreciated if you could send any reply within 30 days of the date of this email or
inform me if you require more time to consider the matter.
 
Please note that if you do make representations, then by virtue of the Local Government (Access to
Information) Act 1985, the County Council may make them available for public inspection. Additionally,
they may also be disclosable under the Freedom of Information Act 2000.
 
If you have any queries or wish to discuss the matter, please do not hesitate to contact me.
 
Kind regards
 
Josephine Upchurch
Definitive Map Officer
Public Rights of Way
County Hall
Durham
DH1 5UQ
03000 265341
 
www.durham.gov.uk/prow
 

Page 28



From:                                         Josephine Upchurch
Sent:                                           21 October 2019 11:26
To:                                               Cllr
Cc:                                               Dagmar Richardson
Subject:                                     Statutory Consultation Notification - Watergate lane, Crook - 3/18/075 (Our

reference REAL/ST/AROW/JU/3/18/075)
Attachments:                          Watergate Lane Map .pdf
 
Dear Cllr                                                                                            
 
Statutory Consultation Notice – Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 - Proposed Amendment to the
Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way Alleged At – Watergate Lane, Crook – 3/18/075
 
I have received evidence in support of the council making a Modification Order to the Definitive Map and
Statement under the provisions of Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. The evidence in
support of the Right of Way comes from historical documentary research that shows the route as having
had such rights since its conception.
 
Under the provisions of Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 the County Council has a duty
to keep the Definitive Map and Statement under continuous review and make appropriate modifications
by Order.
 
The Modification Order application is for the upgrade of an existing footpath (FP 56) to a Bridleway. Please
see the attached plan for location details. 
 
I am currently seeking the views of the relevant land owners and user organisations and will be pleased to
include any comments you may wish to offer regarding the proposed modification to the Highways
Committee.  It would be appreciated if you could send any reply within 30 days of the date of this email or
inform me if you require more time to consider the matter.
 
Please note that if you do make representations, then by virtue of the Local Government (Access to
Information) Act 1985, the County Council may make them available for public inspection. Additionally,
they may also be disclosable under the Freedom of Information Act 2000.
 
If you have any queries or wish to discuss the matter, please do not hesitate to contact me.
 
Yours sincerely
 
 
 
Josephine Upchurch
Definitive Map Officer
Public Rights of Way
County Hall
Durham
DH1 5UQ
03000 265341
 
www.durham.gov.uk/prow
 

Page 29



From:                                         Josephine Upchurch
Sent:                                           21 October 2019 11:26
To:                                               Cllr 
Cc:                                               Dagmar Richardson
Subject:                                     Statutory Consultation Notification - Watergate lane, Crook - 3/18/075 (Our

reference REAL/ST/AROW/JU/3/18/075)
Attachments:                          Watergate Lane Map .pdf
 
Dear Cllr                                                                                     
 
Statutory Consultation Notice– Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 - Proposed Amendment to the
Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way Alleged At – Watergate Lane, Crook – 3/18/075
 
I have received evidence in support of the council making a Modification Order to the Definitive Map and
Statement under the provisions of Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. The evidence in
support of the Right of Way comes from historical documentary research that shows the route as having
had such rights since its conception.
 
Under the provisions of Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 the County Council has a duty
to keep the Definitive Map and Statement under continuous review and make appropriate modifications
by Order.
 
The Modification Order application is for the upgrade of an existing footpath (FP 56) to a Bridleway. Please
see the attached plan for location details. 
 
I am currently seeking the views of the relevant land owners and user organisations and will be pleased to
include any comments you may wish to offer regarding the proposed modification to the Highways
Committee.  It would be appreciated if you could send any reply within 30 days of the date of this email or
inform me if you require more time to consider the matter.
 
Please note that if you do make representations, then by virtue of the Local Government (Access to
Information) Act 1985, the County Council may make them available for public inspection. Additionally,
they may also be disclosable under the Freedom of Information Act 2000.
 
If you have any queries or wish to discuss the matter, please do not hesitate to contact me.
 
Yours sincerely
 
 
Josephine Upchurch
Definitive Map Officer
Public Rights of Way
County Hall
Durham
DH1 5UQ
03000 265341
 
www.durham.gov.uk/prow
 

Page 30



 
 
 

8 Front Street, Wolsingham 
County Durham DL13 3AA 

 
t 01388 527966 
www.georgefwhite.co.uk 

Alnwick                                                       t    01665 603231 

Newcastle upon Tyne                                t    0191 6053480 

Wolsingham                                               t    01388 527966 

Barnard Castle                                           t    01833 690390 

Bedale                                                        t    01677 425301

 

Josephine Upchurch 
Definitive Map Officer 
Public Rights of Way 
Durham County Council 
County Hall 
Durham 
DH1 5UQ 

 
josephine.upchurch@durham.gov.uk 

 
Direct Dial: 

Mobile: 

Email: 

Our Ref: 

Your Ref: 

Date: 

 

 
 
 

@georgefwhite.co.uk 
 

WOL609121/DRP/ks 

 
 
31st January 2020

 

SENT BY EMAIL ONLY 
 

_ 
 

 
Dear Josephine 

 
MR 
STATUTORY CONSULTATION, DEFINITIVE MAP MODIFICATION - WATERGATE LANE - 3/18/075 

 
I refer to the above, and your letter dated 21st October 2019. 

 
As previously stated, my client wishes to object to the proposed modification to the definitive map in the 
strongest possible terms. There is not sufficient evidence to prove the existence of the suggested right; and 
furthermore the precise location of the suggested route is not clear. 

 
In order to assist the Committee, I set out below a commentary in regard to the evidence provided by the 
Applicant which accompanied your letter of 21st October 2019: 

 

 
Reference Source Commentary 

 
Evidence provided with Application 

 

1. Current OS Map It is not clear whether the new right proposed by the Applicant 
is to be on the line of the existing footpath; or the position of 
the line marked purple. The location of the suggested 
bridleway is not therefore considered to have been identified 
with sufficient precision to allow this application to proceed. 

2. Current Definitive Map This is agreed to show the line of the existing public footpath. 

3. Satellite Image This image shows marked purple a route that does not match 
either the existing footpath, or the route marked purple on the 
excerpt from the current OS Map as described at No.1 above. 
This serves to cast further doubt as to the actual position of the 
suggested right of way proposed by the Applicant. 

 
I enclose for clarity a plan marked GFW -1 showing the route 
of the existing footpath (red), and both of the Applicant’s 

 

 
A member of the George F. White Group. George F. White Limited Liability Partnership – Registered in England & Wales No OC304694 

A list of members’ names is open to inspection at our registered office: 4-6 Market Street, Alnwick, Northumberland NE66 1TL 
Regulated by RICS. Authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority for credit-related regulated activities and insurance mediation only.

Page 31

http://www.georgefwhite.co.uk/
http://www.georgefwhite.co.uk/
mailto:upchurch@durham.gov.uk
mailto:@georgefwhite.co.uk
Josephine Upchurch
Typewritten text
Document D

Josephine Upchurch_1
Rectangle



 

  suggested routes (purple). The plan also indicates in black the 
historic route of the railway line for reference. 

4. Enclosure Plan and Award This appears to show the route of the ‘Private Carriage Way’ 
described within the Enclosure Award. The award clearly 
restricts the right to use the route to a specific number of 
private users and is therefore taken as clear evidence that no 
public right existed to the extent proposed as at the date of the 
Enclosure Award. 

5. Railway Plan, Stockton & 
Darlington Railway 

In the supplied form, these plans are not clear enough to have 
any evidential value. Furthermore, by the Applicant’s own 
admission, the marked route that they seek to rely on is 
different from that shown on the Ordnance Survey Maps, and 
their own suggested route. 

6. Hobson 1840 This plan indicates a track of undefined nature; but one that 
does not run for the full length suggested by the Applicant. 
The fact that the track is shown as a dead end is taken as 
evidence that in 1840 there was no through route available to 
the public, contrary to the suggestion of the Applicant. 

7. Greenwood 1850 This plan shows a route that is materially different to that 
suggested by the Applicant. 

8. Tithe Maps DUL In the supplied form, these plans are not clear enough to have 
any evidential value. Furthermore, the Applicant 
acknowledges that the route shown does not cover the entire 
route suggested. As with No.6 above, this is taken as 
evidence that there was no through route of the nature 
suggested by the Applicant. 

9. Ordnance Survey 
Boundary Remark Book 
1379 

It is not clear that this plans relates to the relevant area. They 
cannot be reconciled with more reliable sources and should 
therefore be disregarded. 

10. Ordnance Survey 1st 

Edition 
In the supplied form, these plans are not clear enough to 
interpret or rely on. 

11. Weardale and Shildon 
District Waterworks 
Aqueducts 1865 

In the supplied form, these plans are not clear enough to 
interpret or rely on. 

12. New road plan 1891 
showing intended route of 
current A689 

In the supplied form, these plans are not clear enough to 
interpret or rely on. 

13. OS 1897 1:2,500 Sheet  
None of these plans indicate any use of the route over and 
above that set out within the enclosure award. 

 
I have enclosed for reference a number of historic aerial 
photographs that undermine the Applicant’s assumptions as to 
the hierarchy of local routes. 

14. OS 1924 XXXIV 1:10,500 

15. OS 1:2,500 1921 

16. OS one inch England and 
Wales, Sheet 26 
Wolsingham 1898 

17. OS 25 inch 1947 Sheet 
XXXIV 5 NLS 

18. 1910 Finance Act 
Watergate Finance Plan 
sheet XXXIII 

The Applicant themselves note how the central portion of the 
route is treated differently to that at either end; as per No.6 and 
No.8 above, this would appear to confirm that there was no 
through route of the nature proposed by the Applicant in 

Page 32



 

  existence at any point during the 70 years covered by these 
sources. 

19. New popular OS 1 inch 
1947 

I enclose aerial photographs from 1945 and 1947 which clearly 
show that contrary to the suggestion of the Applicant, there 
was no minor road in existence in 1947. 

20. OS 1:25,000 1953 NZ13 The Applicant acknowledges that this records the route in 
question as being a public footpath only. 

21. Photographic Evidence The photographs provided by the Applicant provide no proof of 
the suggested historic use of the route by the wider public. It is 
also noted that the Applicant acknowledges the ford identified 
does not match with their suggested route further undermining 
their Application. 

 
Supplementary Evidence 

 

1. Enclosure award text Without being linked to a plan the Applicant’s analysis of the 
award carries no weight; furthermore, it is simply not logical 
that the Award would make specific provision for a qualified 
private right, and then also a public right to the same extent on 
the same route within the same enclosure award. 

2. Bell 1852 This simply appears to confirm the existence of a track in the 
general location as at 1852 but does not confirm the basis 
upon which it was used. There is no reason to suggest that it 
was not in use as a private carriageway, as provided for by the 
Enclosure Award in 1761. 

 

Whilst it is appreciated that the issues of the substantial cost and disruption that my client would suffer if the 
modification order were to be approved may not in themselves constitute valid grounds for objection; they do 
serve to highlight the importance of ensuring any modification of the definitive map is based upon clear and 
unequivocal evidence.   It is respectfully submitted that the current application falls well short of this 
threshold both in respect of establishing the right, or a location, and it should therefore be dismissed. 

 
I look forward to hearing from you in due course. 

Yours sincerely, 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Managing Partner 

 
 
 

 
For and on behalf of George F White LLP 

 
Enc.     Plan marked GFW-1 

Aerial Photographs

Page 33



g  t 2020 (licence 

A 
·                      ;--- 

- 

 

GFW-1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

r 
i 

 
 

@ The land  app

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Produced 
© Cro       on Jan 31, 2020 

wn copynght 
Reproduction          and database n  h 
Ordnance Surv�Whole or'" part is 

prohibited without 
nthuemPbi:: 00059532)

perm,ss,on of  

 
 
 
 

Lsorn    I 
Scale J 

.
3929   

atA4)          N

P
age 34



 

 

Aerial Photograph – December 1945

P
age 35



 

 
 
 

Aerial Photograph – March 1947

P
age 36



 
 
 
 
 

 
www.georgefwhite.co.uk 

 

Josephine Upchurch 
Definitive Map Officer 
Public Rights of Way 
Durham County Council 
County Hall 
Durham 
DH1 5UQ 

 
Direct Dial: 

Mobile: 

Email: 

Our Ref: 

Your Ref: 

Date: 

 

 
 
 

georgefwhite.co.uk 

 
 

 
11th March 2021

 

@durham.gov.uk 
 

SENT BY EMAIL ONLY 
 

_ 
 

 
Dear Josephine 

 
MR                   – 
STATUTORY CONSULTATION, DEFINITIVE MAP MODIFICATION - WATERGATE LANE - 3/18/075 

 
I refer to the above, and write further to your e-mail of 19th February 2021 attaching your draft committee 
report. 

 
As set out in my letter of 31st January 2020, my Client objects to the proposed modification on a number of 
grounds. In addition to those grounds set out within my letter of the 31st January 2020, we must ask that the 
following additional points are also considered: 

 
1.   The amended plan that you include within your report is materially different from that originally 

submitted by the Applicant, and which was circulated and considered for the purposes of the 
Statutory Consultation. We would suggest therefore that the current application must be summarily 
dismissed. 

 

 
Without prejudice to our assertion above that the application should be dismissed on procedural 
grounds, we also set out the following comments in respect of the application: 

 

 
2.   As you will be aware, modification of the definitive map pursuant to s.53(3)(c) requires the discovery 

of evidence. We do not believe that the Applicant has specifically identified any evidence as having 
been discovered, and therefore there are no valid grounds on which the application can proceed. In 
his judgement in Burrows v Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs ([2004] EWHC 132 
(Admin)) Andrew Nichol QC confirms as follows (para. 26): 

 
“It is plain that the section intends that a definitive map can be corrected, but the correction 
(via this route as opposed to s.53(3)(a) or (b) ) is dependent on the ‘discovery of evidence’. 
An Inquiry cannot simply re-examine the same evidence that had previously been 
considered when the definitive map was previously drawn up.” 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

A member of the George F. White Group. George F. White Limited Liability Partnership – Registered in England & Wales No OC304694 
A list of members’ names is open to inspection at our registered office: 4-6 Market Street, Alnwick, Northumberland NE66 1TL 

Regulated by RICS. Authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority for credit-related regulated activities and insurance mediation only.

Page 37

http://www.georgefwhite.co.uk/
mailto:@durham.gov.uk
Josephine Upchurch_2
Typewritten text
Additional rebuttal statements submitted 11th March 2021

Josephine Upchurch_3
Line



The Applicant suggests that the route in question was previously a RUPP, and was subsequently 
reclassified by the Local Authority. This reclassification is most likely to have occurred at some point 
between the introduction of the Countryside Act 1968, and May 2006 (when it would have been 
converted automatically to a restricted byway pursuant to the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 
2000). In the absence of evidence to the contrary, it must be assumed that this decision to reclassify 
the route was made by the Local Authority acting with the benefit of all the appropriate evidence. 

 
The burden of proof must lie with the Applicant to demonstrate that the requirements of s.53(3)(c) 
are satisfied, and they have clearly failed in this regard. 

 

 

3.   Our Client has identified that there appears to have been some confusion as to the location of 
Watergate as is referred to in the Hunwick Edge Enclosure Award. Prior to the expansion of Crook, 
Watergate was located significantly further north than the route of Footpath 56. This is confirmed by 
the extract from the Ordnance Survey 1st edition included within the Application. 

 
It would therefore not make sense for the private carriageway described within the Enclosure Award 
running “from Romby Hill Lane Northwestwards to Watergate” to follow the line of footpath 56. A 
more logical explanation would be that the private carriageway described was in the vicinity of 
footpath 169 as shown below: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Footpath 169 also runs in a north westerly direction from Rumby Hill Lane, but would have been 
much closer to Watergate as it existed when compared with footpath 56. 

 
Our Client is clear that there was historically two tracks on the land in question, with one providing 
access to the farm and some of the land from Rumby Hill Lane, and the other providing access to 
Rumby Hill Colliery (to the north of footpath 56) from the west. However, the two tracks never 
joined, with a footpath only spanning the ‘gap’ in the centre. This correlates with the historic 
mapping, and the features that can be seen on the ground today.

Page 38



4.   The plan originally supplied by the Applicant shows the route of the proposed bridleway running 
through an area where historically there were traditional outbuildings associated with the former 
settlement at Rumby Hill at the eastern edge of the route. 

 

 
5.   Contrary to the suggestion in the Application, my Client confirms that there is no ford to the south of 

the footbridge, nor has there ever been one to their recollection within the area highlighted red 
below. The only ford was to the north to provide access to the Colliery when accessed from the 
western side: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

I trust that the above is of assistance in considering the matter further, and look forward to hearing from you 
in due course. 

 
 

 
Yours sincerely, 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

For and on behalf of George F White LLP

Page 39



 

 
 
 

Document D - Points 1 & 3 - suggest that the application is invalid due to 

where the applicant has decided to highlight the route. 
 

The placement of coloured lines are not to be taken as the exact location 
of the route being applied for. They merely highlight the route in 
question whilst allowing the pre-existing Public Rights of Way and 
topographical features associated with route being claimed, to remain 
clearly visible. This is also the case with the additional satellite images 
that have been added by the Definitive Map Officer to further highlight 
and explain the topographical features, associated with different 
sections of the application route, which correlate to those described in 
the Enclosure Award. The applicant states in the DMMO application 
(Appendix 3) that the route proposed for upgrade follows the route of FP 
56, Crook. 

 

The applicant has also submitted a new map where the coloured lines, 
used to highlight the route being claimed, appear over the existing 
public right of way proposed for upgrade (Document Y.a) and 
(Appendix 2). 

 

Document D - Point 4 (original evidence) and 1 (supplementary evidence) – 

Suggests that the description ‘Private Carriage Way’ does in fact mean that it 
is Private and that the supplementary Enclosure Award text does not link to 

the Inclosure Award Plan. 
 

We agree that the Award describes Watergate as a Private Carriage 

Road and that it sets out and appoints private rights for it's use as a 
Carriage Way, however, the Award clearly sets out and appoints the use 
of Watergate Lane as Public Bridleway and for Sack and Seam (Slide 4 - 
Document F.a). 

 

 

Additionally, the supplementary Award text (Document F.a) can be 

linked to Document G, the Award plan, by way of carriageway/highway 

names and descriptions, such as Watergate Lane, and Romby Hill: 
 

“We do hereby divert and appoint that there shall be 

another  publick bridleway and for sack and seam from 

Romby Hill westward to Watergate. We do also order and 

appoint that there shall be a publick foot road from and 

ancient stile in the hedge or fence belonging to the said 

William Wrights inclosure at High Bitchburn leading to 

Watergate Lane near to Romby Hill and along the said 

William Wrights  said copyhold allotments  and the said 

Wm Spearmans said allotments”.

Page 40

Josephine Upchurch_4
Typewritten text
Document D.a - Durham County Council Rebuttal Statements

Josephine Upchurch_5
Line



Points 5,8,9,10,11 and 12 Document D – Argues that the format in which the 

copies of evidence were supplied were indecipherable. 
 

The evidence submitted in support of the claim was supplied in a PDF 

format and although it can be argued that the finer details incorporated 

in the evidence degrades when the documents are enlarged, copies of 
the evidence in an alternative format i.e. Word.docx could have been 

requested, or, an appointment could have been arranged to consult the 

original documents as, if asked for, references could have been 
provided. Neither of the viable options listed above were acted upon. 

 

 
 

Document D Points 6, 7 and 18 (original evidence) & Point 2 (supplementary 

evidence – Suggests that the evidence supplied does not show the entire 

route proposed for upgrade or that the route is shown to be substantially 

different to that proposed for upgrade. 
 

 
 

When observing the topographical features detailed on Documents J, K 
and M it is clear that the section of the route being proposed for upgrade 
is depicted. Additionally, the route is not shown as a dead end, rather it 
has been left open ended. This does not mean that the route itself, and 
the status most likely assigned to it, did not exist but more likely that it 
may have been left staked or partially enclosed rather than fully 
enclosed from the ends of the enclosed roads, parish finances often 
determined the extent of the solid boundaries used to enclose a highway. 
It would have been unlikely that reputable map makers such as Hobson, 
Greenwood, Bells and the surveyors acting on behalf of the 
government, to produce the Finance Plans, would have depicted routes 
that terminated in a cul-de-sac and/or were not considered for public use 
at the time. 

 

With particular regards to Document K, the only feature that could be 
misconstrued as representing the route as being “materially different to 
that suggest by the applicant”, without any explanatory comments as to 
what the material difference is, would be the gap created by the map 
seam making it appear as though the route is not continuous. However, 

 

 

the route shown in the aforementioned documents is depicted as being 

in the same location as that set out and described in the Enclosure 

Award (Document G).

Page 41



Document S shows the section of Watergate Lane being applied for in its 

entirety. It was not uncommon to depict a way, public or otherwise, as 

being partially enclosed with either one solid boundary and a dashed 
line or double dashed lines. It was likely that the entire route was not 
fully enclosed with solid boundaries at the time of surveying, therefore, 
the surveyors depicted the route as it was shown on the ground. The 
lack of two solid enclosure boundaries running the entire route does not 
conclude that the way did not exist as a through route nor does it 
conclude that provisions were not made for a public bridleway or that it 
did not acquire through use, public bridleway status. 

 
Maps produced by Hobson, Greenwood and Bells, although considered 

accurate in what they depicted on the ground, the scales, in comparison 

to modern day mapping and that of Ordnance Survey, are considered 

indeterminable which would account for minor misalignments of 
features across different maps. However, the route being proposed for 

upgrade is shown on each map and remains constant in its extent and 

location. Furthermore, the topographical features associated with and 

intersected by Watergate Lane, such as Beechburn Beck, Rumby Hill 
Lane and other highways, and later the railway, are consistently 

identifiable across all maps and correspond the earliest description and 

depiction of the route in the Enclosure Award and Plan. 
 
 

 

Points 13, 14, 15,16,17 and 19 Document D – 1)“None of these plans indicate 

any use of the route over and above that set out within the Enclosure Award”, 
and, 2) the historical aerial imagery supplied as rebuttal evidence which 

“undermine the applicants assumptions regarding the hierarchy of local 
routes”. 

 

The OS Maps submitted in support of the claim, although they cannot be 
taken as representing the legal status assigned to the route at that time, 
are further evidence that a way has subsisted through time. 

 

All of the OS Maps submitted show Watergate Lane as a partially 

enclosed road, crossing Beechburn Beck with the most detailed maps 

noting ‘Ford’ and ‘F.B. – Footbridge’. These depictions are in keeping 

with the other historical documents regarding the routes extent an 

location. 
 

 

The Enclosure Awards sets out, appoints and makes provision for a 
public bridleway and for sack and seam (carts).The statement "none of 
these plans indicate any use of the route over and above that set out 
within the Enclosure Award” can be agreed given that the application is 
to upgrade the route from a public footpath to a public bridleway which 
is not over and above that set out in the Enclosure Award but falls 
within the expressed provisions.

Page 42



It is impossible to determine how the historical aerial imagery, dated 
1945 and 1947 supplied as rebuttal evidence, undermines the 

applicant’s assertion regarding the routes historical legal status. The 
applicatants assertion is not that the route in question was a minor 
highway in 1945 and 1947 but that a public bridleway was set out and 
appointed in 1761. 

 

 

Document D - Points 20 and 21 – Applicant acknowledges the route is 

currently only a public footpath and that the photographs provided provide no 

proof of the suggested historic use of the route by the wider public. 
 

The 1953 OS Map shows public rights of way that were determined after 
1949 when local authorities were required to produce an official record 

of the public rights of way. The surveyors at the time based their 

decisions on the status of a route, not on historical documentary 

evidence, but rather by what they considered as being suitable for a 

particular mode of transit at the time. 
 

The photographs that have been submitted as evidence provide a visual 
representation that allows the archaeological and topographical features 

described throughout the report to be put into context. They show 

features that are acknowledged as being associated with the 

identification of historic ways such as enclosure roads and cart roads. 
 

Due to the change in use of the route over time, lack of maintenance, 
nature reclaiming the area where the Ford most likely once was and 

development has rendered any potential insitu historical evidence of the 

Fords location difficult to determine. The current footbridge is not likely 

to be the original and its position has most likely been altered slightly 

over time 
 

 

Closing argument Document D - “Any modification order should be based 

upon clear unequivocal evidence of which this application falls well short” 
 

As the route in question is described in an enclosure award and 

depicted on an enclosure plan, legal documents still to this today and 

endorsed by an Act of Parliament, in addition to being supported by 

other reputable historical maps and documents the surveying authority 
considers that the evidence which has been submitted, when considered 

with all other relevant evidence, shows that; a highway of a particular 
description ought to be shown as a highway of a different description, as 
per the legal framework:

Page 43



Under the provisions of Section 53 of the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981, the County Council as Surveying 

Authority has a duty to keep the Definitive Map and Statement 
under review and is required to make a Modification Order 

(Section 53 (3) (c) (ii) on the discovery by the authority of 
evidence which when considered with all other relevant 
evidence available to them shows  that a highway of a 

particular description ought to be shown as a highway of a 

different description. 
 

The only considerations that the Council can take account of are those that 
relate to whether the highway. of a particular description ought to be shown 
as a highway of a different description. It would be unlawful to consider 
issues such as the suitability or desirability of the routes subject of the 
application.

Page 44



 

Point 1) - That the plan accompanying the application is different to that 

consulted upon 

 
The applicant supplied an amended map in February 2020 on which the 

route under consideration has been highlighted directly over the 

definitive line of Footpath 56. Subsequently, all relevant documents were 

updated with the revised map. Furthermore, despite one map not 

highlighting the exact line of Footpath 56, it does not adversely affect 
the strength of the evidence submitted in support of the application. 

 

 
 
 
 

Point 2) - That the evidence has not been ‘discovered’ 
 

The Historical Documentary Evidence submitted in support of this 

application can be considered as ‘discovered’ for the purposes of 

S53(3)(c) and the case law referred to by the objector, in that it is not 

simply a reconsideration of previously considered evidence. In 

particular, 1) it has not been considered via the appropriate channels 

provided by the current legislation and introduced for the purpose of 

Historical Documentary Evidence based Definitive Map Modification 

Orders and 2) there is no evidence or documentation, held by Durham 

County Council or the Rights of Way department to suggest that 

Historical Documentary Evidence was previously considered as part of 

the 1972 Special Limited Review reclassification. Had Historical 

Documentary Evidence been considered as part of the 1972 Special 

Limited Review it is probable that Watergate Lane would have been 

reclassified as either a Bridleway or Restricted Byway. Although the 

objector refers to a reclassification pursuant to the Countryside and 

Rights of Way Act 2000 in the mid 2000s, this reclassification exercise 

actually took place at a much earlier time (1972). 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cont.

Page 45

Josephine Upchurch_6
Typewritten text
Durham County Council - Additional Rebuttal Statements

Josephine Upchurch_7
Line



Point 3) - Location of Watergate and that the BW is not on the alignment of 
FP56 as there are two other historic tracks it could be 

When taking into account that the Inclosure award and plan was 

produced in 1761 and that the Watergate feature, identified as being 

Watergate Farm in an archaeology survey and report by Allan 

Archaeology Ltd carried out in 2020, and the colliery tramway to which 

the objector refer both postdate this by some 100 years or more, neither 

of these two tracks can be the Bridleway referred to in the Inclosure 

Award. The earliest evidence of a location or feature named Watergate 

is shown on the 1761 Inclosure plan as being located on Bitchburn Beck 

along Watergate Lane (Document G) and this links to the section of text 

in the Inclosure award (Doc F.a) which relates specifically to a bridleway 

and cart road being appointed from Rumby Hill (Rumby Hill Lane) 

westward to Watergate. The Watergate Farm buildings do not appear on 

the Newton Gap (1848), Hemlington Row (1839), St Andrew Auckland or 

the Crook and Billy Row (1839) tithe plans (Durham University Library). 

The earliest depiction of a Watergate feature referred to by the objector 

is between 1855-1895, on the 1st edition OS County Series Map and the 

earliest depiction of a colliery and tramway, on any Historical 

Documentary Evidence, first appears on the 1920 -1921 OS County 

Series Map (National Library of Scotland and Old Maps UK). 
Therefore the Inclosure award, which sets out and appoints a bridleway 

in 1761, could not be referring to either a track or tramway that relate to 

either the Watergate Farm buildings or the colliery tramway as the 

Inclosure award predates the documents in which these features first 

appear. It is highly probably that the Watergate feature being referred to 

in the additional rebuttal statements took its name from the Watergate 

located on Bitchburn Beck along Watergate Lane. 
 

 

Point 4) - That the alignment of the BW would conflict with former buildings 
 

In 1761, when the Inclosure award set out and appointed Watergate Lane 

as a private carriageway, cart road for sack and seam and a public 

bridleway, the enclosed section of Watergate Lane ran adjacent to and to 

the south of the buildings shown on the Inclosure plan, not through 
them. However, should buildings have been erected over the application 

route of Watergate Lane at any time since 1761 the route and legal status 

assigned to it in 1761 are still extant, unless the legal rights have been 

extinguished and in this case there is no evidence to suggest this.

Page 46



Point 5) - The location of the old ford 
 

A ford was annotated as crossing Bitchburn Beck along the route of 

Watergate Lane on the OS Six Inch County Series Map (revised in 1896, 

published in 1898) but not Rumby Hill Colliery (National Library of 

Scotland). The Ford continued to appear on OS maps up until 1938 at 

which time the 1938 County Series OS Map depicts the crossing as a 

Footbridge. Whilst the objector says that they cannot recall a ford in this 

location, this is perhaps unsurprising given that it ceased to exist 

(having been replaced by a footbridge) no later than 1938.  Additionally, 

the applicant has identified in their application that there was a Ford to 

the North of the footbridge, which is now inaccessible due to 

development and that there is another useable ford to the south of the 

footbridge. 
 
 

We, the surveying authority, have reviewed the additional evidence and 

rebuttal statements and we do not consider them of sufficient evidential value 

to contradict or undermine the evidence submitted by the applicant or that 

they warrant a change in Durham County Councils recommendation. 
 

 
 

The only considerations that the Council can take account of are those that 
relate to whether the highway. of a particular description ought to be shown 
as a highway of a different description. It would be unlawful to consider 
issues such as the suitability or desirability of the routes subject of the 
application. 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



From:                                       cwrams.co.uk

Sent:                                           22 October 2019 14:20

To:                                               Josephine Upchurch

Subject:                                     Re: Statutory Consultation Notice - Watergate Lane, Crook - 3/18/075 - (Our
reference REAL/ST/AROW/JU/3/18/075)

 

Good afternoon Josephine,

 

I am very pleased that you made contact with me about this Right of Way and I want you to know that
Crook and Weardale Ramblers Group fully support the upgrade of FP56 to a Bridleway.

 

Our group have attempted to follow the correct route of this PROW more than once this year and have
failed to be able to do so. On these occasions we found that irrespective of any future upgrade being
granted the condition of the current PROW is a disgrace, especially during the months when undergrowth
and new tree growth is in full force.

 

In order that I can feedback current up to date information, one of our local group members has attempted
to follow the correct route of FP56 again this morning so that I may offer his findings in this reply as
follows:

The FP starts by the main road and has a gate with a padlock, a stile and a sign in red.
It’s probably wide enough for a horse.
At the crossing of the Bitchburn Beck, there’s a metal bridge which is designed to stop horses, bikes,
 prams etc.
The path is currently reasonably clear, apart from some damage to way-marks but will need to be
cleared of the overhanging trees and maintained.
The "top" of the path has a stile but it's off-route. This detour is de-facto and accepted as the path
and has been used regularly. The actual route goes through a gate
and there’s a public footpath sign pointing at the correct start.
This is blocked by a rusty pair of gates, a huge block of concrete and vegetation. 
We feel that irrespective of any future uprade of FP56 into a bridleway the current FP should be
made to follow the correct route.

 

 Finally, I wish to make it clear Crook and Weardale Ramblers Group welcome sharing use of FP56 with
horses and cyclists by upgrading it to a Bridleway thus enhancing our local area and also be of benefit to as
many people as possible!

 

Best regards,

Footpaths Officer, Page 49

Josephine Upchurch_8
Typewritten text
Document E

Josephine Upchurch_9
Line



Crook & Weardale Ramblers.

 

Page 50



The British Horse Society is an Appointed Representative of South Essex Insurance Brokers Limited 

 who are authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. 

Registered Charity Nos. 210504 and SC038516.  A company limited by guarantee. Registered in England & Wales No. 444742 

Patron Her Majesty The Queen 

 

 

 

 

Fulfilling your passion for horses 

The British Horse Society 
Abbey Park 
Stareton 
Kenilworth 
Warwickshire 
CV8 2XZ 
 

Email:  access@bhs.org  

Tel:  02476 840515 

 

 

 
 

24th February 2021 
 
To: 
Josephine Upchurch 
Definitive Map Officer 
Public Rights of Way 
Durham County Council, 
County Hall, 
Durham 
DH1 5UQ 
 
Ref. REAL/ST/AROW/JU/3/18/075 
 
Statutory Consultation Notice – Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 - Proposed Amendment to the 
Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way Alleged At Watergate Lane, Crook – 3/18/075 
 
Dear Josie 
 
Response from the British Horse Society 
 
The British Horse Society fully supports this proposal to upgrade the footpath known as Watergate Lane to a 
Bridleway.   
 
The route has been in place for more than 250 years as set out in the Inclosure of 1761, a legal document to this 
day.  There is also good supplementary evidence for this route.   
 
It is obvious to us that this Bridleway fell into disuse after the 2nd World War when there weren’t   many leisure 
horses around as people did not have the means to care for them.  
 
As stated in our previous response, this proposal will bring greater safety for those who ride horses and cycles 
and future generations can also enjoy them. 
 
Regards 
 

 
Access and Bridleway Officers 
 
On Behalf of ‘The British Horse Society’ (Durham) 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



Heading

Watergate Lane, Crook 

DMMO 

Application Evidence

Ref. 3/18/075

P
age 53



Historical Documentary Evidence

P
age 54



“Uses. And we do hereby direct and award that it shall and may be lawfull
for all the persons owners or occupiers of the said several allotments of the
said Common hereafter at all times to pass and repass in thro over and along
all and every of the said respective private carriage Roads hereinbefore by us
sett out and appointed thro’ the said Common called Hunwick Edge on Foot or
Horseback and with all manner of Carriages and also to lead all and all
manner of Cattle in thro’ over and along the same.”

P
age 55



Document F.a -Hunwick Edge Inclosure Award -

Supplementary Evidence (links to document G)

We do hereby divert and appoint that there shall be another
publick bridleway and for sack and seam from Romby Hill
westward to Watergate. We do also order and appoint that
there shall be a publick foot road from and ancient stile in the
hedge or fence belonging to the said William Wrights
inclosure at High Bitchburn leading to Watergate Lane near to
Romby Hill and along the said William Wrights said copyhold
allotments and the said Wm Spearmans said allotments.

P
age 56



Document G – Hunwick Edge Inclosure Plan

P
age 57



P
age 58



Document H – 1836 Stockton and Darlington Railway Plan

P
age 59



P
age 60



Document H.a – 1836 Stockton and Darlington Railway Plan – Aerial Plan & Cross 
Section.

P
age 61



Document I – 1846 North Bedburn Tithe Map 

P
age 62



Document I.a – 1848 Newton Cap Tithe Map 

P
age 63



P
age 64



P
age 65



P
age 66



P
age 67



P
age 68



P
age 69



P
age 70



P
age 71



P
age 72



P
age 73



P
age 74



P
age 75



P
age 76



P
age 77



P
age 78



P
age 79



P
age 80



P
age 81



P
age 82



P
age 83



P
age 84



P
age 85



P
age 86



P
age 87



P
age 88



P
age 89



P
age 90



P
age 91



P
age 92



P
age 93



P
age 94



P
age 95



P
age 96



P
age 97



P
age 98



P
age 99



P
age 100


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting held on 14 December 2020
	5 Status of Public Footpath No. 56, Watergate Lane, Crook from Junction of A689 (Prospect Road) and the B6298 (New Road) to Rumby Hill Lane (C18a), Crook - Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 - Definitive Map Modification Order Proposal
	Document A - Location
	Document B - Route Plan
	Document C - Form C and Consultation Letters_redacted
	2019 10 21 - Church Com. - SNC - Watergate Lane, Crook - 3_18_075 - (Our reference REAL_ST_AROW_JU_3_18_075).pdf.pdf (p.3)
	2019 10 21 - DCC - SNC - Watergate Lane, Crook - 3_18_075 - (Our reference REAL_ST_AROW_JU_3_18_075).pdf.pdf (p.4)
	2019 10 21 - Mr A F Wilson - SNC - Watergate Lane, Crook - 3_18_075 - (Our reference REAL_ST_AROW_JU_3_18_075).pdf.pdf (p.5-7)
	2019 10 21 - BHS - SNC - Watergate Lane, Crook - 3_18_075 - (Our reference REAL_ST_AROW_JU_3_18_075).pdf (p.9)
	2019 10 21 - Bywaysetc -  SNC - Watergate Lane, Crook - 3_18_075 - (Our reference REAL_ST_AROW_JU_3_18_075) .pdf (p.10)
	2019 10 21 - Open Spaces - SNC - Watergate Lane, Crook - 3_18_075 - (Our reference REAL_ST_AROW_JU_3_18_075).pdf.pdf (p.11)
	2019 10 21 - Sustrans - SNC - Watergate Lane, Crook - 3_18_075 - (Our reference REAL_ST_AROW_JU_3_18_075).pdf (p.12)
	2019 10 21 Cycling UK - SNC - Watergate Lane, Crook - 3_18_075 - (Our reference REAL_ST_AROW_JU_3_18_075).pdf (p.13)
	2019 10 21 Ramblers - SNC - Watergate Lane, Crook - 3_18_075 - (Our reference REAL_ST_AROW_JU_3_18_075).pdf (p.14)
	2019 10 21 - Cllr Jopling - SCN - Watergate lane, Crook - 3_18_075 (Our reference REAL_ST_AROW_JU_3_18_075).pdf (p.15)
	2019 10 21 - Cllr Patterson - SCN - Watergate lane, Crook - 3_18_075 (Our reference REAL_ST_AROW_JU_3_18_075).pdf (p.16)
	2019 10 21 - Cllr Reed - SCN - Watergate lane, Crook - 3_18_075 (Our reference REAL_ST_AROW_JU_3_18_075).pdf (p.17)

	Document D and D.a - Rebuttal Statement Letter (George.F.White) and DCC Counter Statements_redacted (1)
	Document E - Updated Support_redacted
	2019 10 22 - grahame.rose@cwrams.co.pdf (p.1-2)

	Documents F -A.1 - Watergate Lane, Crook - DMMO Evidence


